
Chapter name

Equality and Human 
Rights Commission

Annual Report and Accounts
1st April 2015 — 31st March 2016



2

Equality and Human Rights Commission Annual Report and Accounts  
1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016



3

www.equalityhumanrights.com

Equality and Human 
Rights Commission

Annual Report and 
Accounts

1 April 2015 – 
31 March 2016
Annual Report presented to Parliament pursuant to 
paragraph 32 of Schedule 1 to the Equality Act 2006

Accounts presented to Parliament pursuant to 
paragraph 40 of Schedule 1 to the Equality Act 2006

Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed on  
6 July 2016

HC 384



Equality and Human Rights Commission Annual Report and Accounts  
1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016

4

© Crown copyright 2016

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence 
v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit  
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3 
or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email:  psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need 
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/publications

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 
correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com

Print ISBN: 9781474134453 
Web ISBN: 9781474134460

ID SGD0012400 07/16

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum

Printed in the UK by the Williams Lea Group on behalf of the Controller of Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office



www.equalityhumanrights.com

5

P
erform

ance report
A

ccountability report
S

tatem
ent of accounts

Contents
Foreword from the Chair 6

Performance report 7
Overview 7
Foreword from the Chief Executive 8
Performance analysis 20

Accountability report 29
Corporate governance report 29
Directors’ report 30
Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities 40
Governance statement 42
Remuneration and staff report 56
Parliamentary accountability* and audit report 75

Statement of accounts 1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016 78

Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year ended  
31 March 2016 79

Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016 81
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2016 83

Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended  
31 March 2016 85

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 87

*The Parliamentary accountability and audit report contains the Certificate 
and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General. There are no 
parliamentary accountability disclosures to report.



6

Equality and Human Rights Commission Annual Report and Accounts  
1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016

In the past year, the Commission has delivered an ambitious programme of 
work in support of our strategic objectives, acting on our mission to protect and 
promote human rights and make Britain a fairer place for everyone.

In delivering these achievements, the Commission relies on the continuing hard 
work of the Chief Executive and wider workforce. On behalf of the Board, we 
would like to thank them all for their efforts.

We would also like to pay tribute to Baroness Onora O’Neill, who stepped down 
as Chair earlier this year. Under her leadership, the Commission has become a 
stronger and more effective organisation during challenging times.

We are committed to improving further and being even more impactful and 
effective in the year ahead. This is set out in our new Strategic Plan and 
Business Plan for 2016/17, highlighting how we will maintain and enhance our 
work, despite a smaller budget.

Davic Isaac
Chair

Foreword from 
the Chair
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Over the past year we have continued 
to build the reputation and confidence 
of our organisation, delivering high-
impact work that has had a positive 
effect on people’s lives.

This included publishing ‘Is Britain 
Fairer?’, the most comprehensive 
review of its kind. In a tight financial 
climate and with the continuing 
controversy over spending decisions, 
the need for intelligent, evidence-
based decision-making has never 
been greater. The report provides 
a state of the nation analysis and 
also offers a basis for future work 
by the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission (‘the Commission’) and 
many other public bodies.

We delivered on our strategic priority 
to promote fairness and equality of 
opportunity in Great Britain’s future 
economy. This included the first 
comprehensive study for nine years 
on the scale and nature of pregnancy 
and maternity discrimination and 
disadvantage in the workplace. 

We also undertook an inquiry into the 
recruitment and appointment of directors 
to the boards of FTSE 350 companies; 
completed a review of equality and 
human rights law relating to religion 
or belief; published guidance to tackle 
unlawful discrimination in recruitment 
advertising; and launched a publication 
to help increase diversity within the 
television broadcasting industry.

We also delivered on our strategic 
priority to promote fair access to 
public services, and autonomy 
and dignity in service delivery. 
We completed a two-year sports 
inclusion programme; launched a 
new online resource to help disabled 
school children achieve their 
potential; carried out work around 
the Public Sector Equality Duty; 
completed a two-year programme 
to improve compliance with equality 
and human rights obligations 
in health and social care; and 
undertook a programme of work 
examining the state of access to civil 
justice in England and Wales.

Foreword  
from the  
Chief Executive
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In addition, we delivered on our 
strategic priority to promote dignity 
and respect, and contribute to 
keeping people safe. We completed a 
two-year programme to ensure better 
reporting of lesbian, gay, bisexual 
and transgender hate crime; ran a 
partnership training programme with 
the College of Policing to address 
disproportionate use of stop and 
search police powers in England; 
and intervened in the High Court in 
a case which ruled that including the 
Carers Allowance in the benefit cap 
is unlawful indirect discrimination 
against disabled people.

We constantly monitor the UK’s 
record of respect for the international 
human rights agreements to which it 
is signatory, and in the last year were 
successful again in being rated by the 
United Nations (UN) as an A-status 
National Human Rights Institution. 

In the past year, the new Women 
and Equalities Committee has 
been appointed by the House 
of Commons to examine the 
expenditure, administration and 
policy of the Government Equalities 
Office. The Commission has on 
a number of occasions given oral 
evidence or written submissions to 
the Committee or made it aware 
of issues arising and forthcoming 
reports. 

These have included: evidence 
given by the Chair and Chief 
Executive in November 2015 on the 
work of the Commission; evidence 
given by the Vice Chair in May 
2016 on pregnancy and maternity 
discrimination; and written evidence 
submitted to the Committee’s 
inquiries on transgender equality, 
the gender pay gap and women 
in executive management. The 
Commission has welcomed the 
establishment of the Committee 
and has written to the Chair to invite 
the Committee’s consideration of 
establishing accountability to the 
Committee for the Commission’s 
work on equalities.

‘We delivered on our 
strategic priority to promote 
fairness and equality 
of opportunity in Great 
Britain’s future economy. 
This included the first 
comprehensive study for 
nine years on the scale and 
nature of pregnancy and 
maternity discrimination 
and disadvantage in the 
workplace.’
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We also work with the Joint Committee on Human Rights (JCHR), responding 
to inquiries and writing to them to raise concerns about proposed legislation. 
We offer to share analysis and evidence with the JCHR in order to assist 
their scrutiny of issues. We have also written to the JCHR about increasing 
accountability for our human rights work.

Furthermore we have launched our refreshed website, which receives in 
excess of two million visitors each year, and improved our social media reach 
by over 25 per cent, with a total Twitter following in excess of 17,000.

We have continued to strengthen financial controls and reporting and to drive 
further efficiency savings through the implementation of our estates strategy.

These are just a selection of the significant achievements during a year 
of strong delivery for the Commission. We will continue to build on these 
achievements, delivering against our remit effectively and efficiently, and 
working to ensure that equality and human rights are for everyone.

During 2015/16 sponsorship of the Commission passed from the Department 
for Culture, Media and Sport to the Department for Education. 

Rebecca Hilsenrath
Chief Executive, Equality and Human Rights Commission
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Our strategic vision 

We live in a country with a long 
history of upholding people’s 
rights, valuing diversity and 
challenging intolerance. The 
Commission seeks to maintain 
and  strengthen this heritage 
while identifying and tackling 
areas where there is still unfair 
discrimination or where human 
rights are not being respected.

1111

www.equalityhumanrights.com
P

erform
ance report
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Our role

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (‘the Commission’) was 
established by Parliament under the Equality Act 2006 to help safeguard and 
enforce the laws that protect all our rights to fairness, dignity and respect. We 
use our unique powers to help make Britain a fair society in which everyone 
has an equal opportunity to fulfil their potential. 

The Commission operates independently and aims to be an expert and 
authoritative organisation reputed as a centre of excellence for evidence, 
analysis and legal expertise. We strive to be an essential point of contact for 
policymakers, businesses and public bodies. 

Our statutory powers give us a range of tools to drive equality and human 
rights improvements, and we use these selectively and proportionately to 
achieve our objectives. 

We work with other organisations and individuals to advance fairness, dignity 
and respect, but we are ready to take tough action against those who abuse 
the rights of others. 

As a UN-accredited National Human Rights Institution and a National Equality 
Body, we work with bodies in Scotland and Northern Ireland, across Europe 
and internationally to protect and promote equality and human rights.

P
erform

ance report
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The Commission is...

Catalyst for change
Enabling and encouraging improvement by bringing people together to devise 
solutions and by building capacity in other organisations to help them to effect 

change. Where appropriate, we use our statutory inquiry powers to explore 
systemic issues, gather evidence and develop possible solutions.

Information provider
Helping people understand their rights 

and responsibilities and improve 
compliance with the law. 

Influencer
Using our legal expertise, research, 

insight and analysis, to influence public 
policy and inform debates. 

Evaluator
Monitoring the effectiveness of the laws 

protecting people’s rights to equality 
and human rights and measuring 

progress in society. 

Enforcer
Using our strategic enforcement powers 

selectively to protect people against serious 
and systemic abuses of their rights and to 

clarify equality and human rights law, alongside 
our efforts to help organisations to comply with 

equality and human rights standards.  
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Our duties and powers

The Commission has a set of unique duties and powers under the Equality 
Act 2006 to help us fulfil our mandate. We have specific responsibilities and 
requirements under the UN Paris Principles and the European Union Equality 
Directives to ensure we maintain our status as a National Human Rights 
Institution and European National Equality Body. Members of the ministerial 
team account for the Commission’s business in Parliament.

General duty

Under the Equality Act 2006, the Commission’s general duty is to exercise 
its functions with a view to encouraging and supporting the development 
of a society in which: people’s ability to achieve their potential is not limited 
by prejudice or discrimination; there is respect for and protection of each 
individual’s human rights; there is respect for the dignity and worth of each 
individual; each individual has an equal opportunity to participate in society; 
and there is mutual respect between groups based on understanding and 
valuing diversity, and on shared respect for equality and human rights.

Equality and diversity

The Commission is also under a duty to: promote understanding of the 
importance of equality and diversity; encourage good practice in relation 
to equality and diversity; promote equality of opportunity; promote awareness 
and understanding of rights under the Equality Act 2010; enforce the Equality 
Act 2010; and work towards the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment.

‘The Commission has a set of unique duties and powers 
under the Equality Act 2006 to help us fulfil our mandate.’
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Human rights

As a National Human Rights Institution we must: promote understanding 
of the importance of human rights through teaching, research, and public 
awareness and educational programmes; promote awareness, understanding 
and protection of human rights and efforts to combat discrimination, 
especially through use of media channels; make recommendations to 
Government, Parliament and other competent bodies on existing and 
proposed laws and processes that will impact on human rights; promote the 
harmonisation of national law, policy and practice with international human 
rights law and standards; encourage public bodies to comply fully with the 
Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporates the European Convention on 
Human Rights into national law; and cooperate with the UN and other bodies 
dedicated to promoting and protecting human rights, including by monitoring 
and reporting on Great Britain’s compliance with the core conventions.

Our governance and risk management

Information about the Commission’s governance and risk arrangements can 
be found in the governance statement on pages 42-55. 

Going concern

Grant-in-aid, unlike other income, is treated as financing and is taken straight 
into taxpayers’ equity. Cash grant-in-aid for the year to 31 March 2017, taking 
into account the amounts required to meet the Commission’s liabilities falling 
due in that period, has already been included in the sponsor department’s 
estimates for the year, which have been approved by Parliament. There is 
no reason to believe that the department’s future sponsorship and future 
parliamentary approval will not be forthcoming. It has accordingly been 
considered appropriate to adopt a going-concern basis for the preparation of 
these accounts.

During 2015/16 sponsorship of the Commission passed from the Department 
for Culture, Media and Sport to the Department for Education. 
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To promote fairness and equality of opportunity in Great 
Britain’s future economy, we:

■  Launched a campaign to tackle pregnancy and maternity  
discrimination and disadvantage in the workplace, drawing on 
the findings of the first comprehensive study for nine years on 
the scale and nature of the challenges facing pregnant women 
and new mothers in Britain. This was conducted jointly with the 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills. 

Performance summary  2015/16

During 2015/16 we continued to build the effectiveness and confidence of our 
organisation, delivering high-impact work to improve people’s lives. A major 
achievement was the publication in October 2015 of ‘Is Britain Fairer?’, the 
most comprehensive review of progress on equality and human rights 
in Britain. 

Since then we have published three further in-depth national reports: ‘Is 
England Fairer?’, ‘Is Scotland Fairer?’ and ‘Is Wales Fairer?’.

We highlight some of our other successes below.

16

‘We launched a campaign 
to tackle pregnancy and 
maternity discrimination 
in the workplace.’
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■  Completed our landmark inquiry revealing how better recruitment 
practices could improve diversity on the boards of FTSE 350 
companies.

■  Gathered evidence in our investigation into the Metropolitan 
Police Service’s treatment of officers and staff who make 
complaints about discrimination.

■  Launched ‘Thinking outside the box,’ a guide for people working 
in the television broadcasting sector to increase the diversity of 
talent both on- and off-screen.

■  Published a review of equality and human rights law relating 
to religion or belief to inform our forthcoming report on the 
effectiveness of the legal framework.

To promote fair access to public services, and autonomy and 
dignity in service delivery, we:

■  Completed our two-year Sports Inclusion Programme, which 
invested £760,000 to increase the participation of women, girls 
and people from ethnic minorities in rugby, through Premiership 
Rugby Limited. We published a report with Sport Scotland setting 
out clear recommendations on how to improve equality, inclusion 
and participation in Scottish sport.

■  Completed a two-year programme to improve compliance with 
equality and human rights obligations in health and social 
care, supporting delivery of online resources for the sector, and 
working with the Care Quality Commission Academy to train 
inspectors and embed equality and human rights across its 
curriculum.

■  Examined how recent changes to legal aid, tribunal fees and 
funding of the advice sector have affected the right to a fair trial 
and access to civil justice in England and Wales, highlighting 
particular concerns about the impact on disabled people, women 
and people from ethnic minorities.
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To promote dignity and respect, and contribute to keeping 
people safe, we:

■  Completed our two-year programme to improve reporting of and 
responses to lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender hate crime.

■  Published a follow-up report into deaths in detention of hundreds 
of adults with mental health conditions.

■  Developed a new training programme on stop and search for 
police officers in England, with a focus on avoiding excessive and 
disproportionate use against ethnic minorities, in partnership with 
the College of Policing.

In addition, we:

■  Published reports on the UK’s performance in complying with 
human rights treaties covering: economic, social and cultural 
rights; civil and political rights; children’s rights; and on the 
elimination of discrimination against women – influencing the 
recommendations that the UN committees make to the UK and 
devolved Governments.

■  Supported or intervened in landmark legal cases on issues 
affecting some of the most disadvantaged in our society, including 
disabled people and Gypsy and Traveller communities, and on 
breaches of human rights.

■  Advised the UK Parliament on equality and human rights issues 
through our briefings on the Scotland Bill, Welfare Reform and 
Work Bill, Immigration Bill, Trade Union Bill and Enterprise Bill.

■  Launched our new user-friendly website which receives in 
excess of two million visitors each year, and improved our social 
media reach by over 25 per cent, with a total Twitter following in 
excess of 17,000.

■  Continued to strengthen financial controls and reporting, 
demonstrated by our fifth consecutive unqualified audit opinion 
from the Comptroller and Auditor General, and to drive further 
efficiency savings. 
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Key issues and risks

The key issues and risks which face the Commission in delivering its 
objectives are detailed in the governance statement on pages 42-55.

‘In 2015/16, we 
completed our two-
year Sports Inclusion 
Programme, which 
invested £760,000 to 
increase the participation 
of women, girls and 
people from ethnic 
minorities in rugby.’

19
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Our strategic priorities in 2016-19
Our new Strategic Plan 2016-19, on which we conducted an extensive public 
consultation, sets out an ambitious programme to deliver on our mandate, set 
by Parliament, to challenge discrimination, promote equality of opportunity, and 
protect and promote human rights.

The strategic objectives for the duration of that Plan are:

■  Significant impact – advancing equality and human rights in 
priority areas.

■  A strong evidence base – authoritative analysis and insight.

■  Sustainable infrastructure – an effective and sustainable 
infrastructure to protect rights in practice.

■  Improved capability – an expert, independent and authoritative 
national body.

See https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/our-strategic-plan-2016-19 
for more information.

Business Plan 2016/17
The Commission’s 2016/17 Business Plan outlines the coming year’s work 
programme in support of our four strategic aims, the outcomes we are aiming 
for and how we intend to achieve them. 

See http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-commission/
our-vision-and-mission/our-business-plan for more information.

Performance report – 
performance analysis

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-commission/our-vision-and-mission/our-business-plan
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-commission/our-vision-and-mission/our-business-plan
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Measuring success

Performance management and reporting is central to the successful delivery 
of our Business Plan and ensuring that our work represents value for money. 
The measures against which we will judge our progress and success are 
set out in the separate Success Measures Annex which will be published 
alongside our Business Plan.

Equality objectives

Under the Equality Act 2010, the Commission, like all public bodies, is subject 
to the Public Sector Equality Duty and must have due regard to the need 
to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not. The duty covers age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, and sexual orientation. The duty to have 
due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination also covers marriage and 
civil partnership in the workplace.

Equality and diversity are at the heart of everything we do. There is 
information about our equality objectives and how we are performing in 
promoting equality of opportunity for all of our staff at: 
www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-the-commission/
equality-and-diversity

Workforce diversity 

The following table summarises the Commission’s workforce diversity profile 
as at 31 March 2016. 

During 2015/16 the Commission’s workforce headcount increased from 203 
(192 full-time equivalent (FTE)) as at 1 April 2015 to 207 (196 FTE) as at 31 
March 2016. Twenty-six staff left the Commission and there were 30 new 
appointments. 

Overall, there has been no significant change to the Commission’s workforce 
diversity during 2015/16. The main differences are a decrease in the 
proportion of staff who are married or in a civil partnership, a decrease in the 
number of staff declaring a religion or belief, and that the workforce is getting 
younger. 

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-the-commission/equality-and-diversity
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-the-commission/equality-and-diversity
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In summary: 

■  60 per cent of our workforce are female, which is broadly the 
same as the previous two years 

■  24 per cent of our workforce describe themselves as having a 
disability, which is broadly the same as 2014/15

■  16 per cent of our workforce declared they are from ethnic 
minority groups, representing no change from 2014/15

■  19 per cent of our workforce are aged under 34, representing a 
slight increase from 14 per cent in 2014/15, and 19 per cent are 
aged over 55, which is broadly the same as the previous year

■  41 per cent of our workforce declared a religion or belief, 
representing a decrease from 47 per cent last year 

■  8 per cent of our workforce declared they are lesbian, gay or 
bisexual, representing a slight increase from the previous year, 
while 83 per cent declared they are heterosexual, showing little 
change from the previous year

■  49 per cent of our staff declared they are married or in a civil 
partnership, which is slightly less than 52 per cent in 2014/15

■  Just under half (49 per cent) of our staff declared they have 
caring responsibilities, which is a small decrease from 52 per 
cent in 2014/15, and no staff have identified themselves to be 
transgender.
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Workforce diversity
Year ended  

31 March 2016 
%

Year ended  
31 March 2015 

%
Age

16–24 1 1

25–34 18 13

35–44 29 31

45–54 33 37

55–64 18 16

65+ 1 2

Disability

Disabled 24 25

Non-disabled 64 55

Not declared 12 20

Gender

Male 40 39

Female 60 61

Ethnic group

White 82 81

Black and ethnic minority 16 16

Not declared 2 3

Gender reassignment

Transgender or transsexual None declared None declared

Religion or belief

Religion or belief 41 47

No religion or belief 47 44

Not declared 12 9



24

Equality and Human Rights Commission Annual Report and Accounts  
1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016

Workforce diversity
Year ended  

31 March 2016 
%

Year ended  
31 March 2015 

%
Sexual orientation

Lesbian/gay/bisexual 8 6

Heterosexual 83 84

Not declared 9 10

Caring responsibilities

Yes 49 52

No 44 39

Not declared 7 9

Pregnancy and maternity status

Pregnancy or on maternity leave 4 3

Marriage/civil partnership status

Married or in a civil partnership 49 52

Not married or in a civil partnership 47 42

Not declared 4 6

At 31 March 2016, one member of senior management was male and three 
female. Below that, at Senior Civil Service equivalent level, there were two 
males and eight females. Across the rest of the workforce, 80 members of 
staff were male and 113 female.
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Financial review

The annual statement of accounts 
and notes to the accounts for the 
period to 31 March 2016 are set out 
on page 78 onwards.

In 2015/16, the comprehensive 
net expenditure for the year 
taken to taxpayers’ equity was 
£20.0m (£19.3m in 2014/15). The 
Commission continuously reviews its 
expenditure and manages its budget 
to deliver best value for money and 
ensure all spending is effective. In 
2015/16 the Commission’s year-
end outturn was within all budgetary 
control totals as delegated by the 
sponsor department.

The Commission’s budget (capital 
and resource) for 2015/16 excluding 
depreciation was £21.9m, made 
up of £16.5m core funding and 
£5.4m discretionary funding to 
deliver specific work agreed with the 
sponsor department. Throughout 
the year the Commission actively 
managed its budget in order to 
maximise business planning 
outcomes. 

Long-term expenditure 
trends

The recession and the subsequent 
recovery have over the past several 
years shaped the UK Government’s 
economic policy.This continues to 
have implications for equality and 
human rights. In common with other 
public bodies, our expenditure for 
the next four years will reduce in 
the context of the comprehensive 
Spending Review carried out in 
2015. However, we will continue 
to use the resources available to 
us to deliver work with real impact 
and to manage the changes to our 
organisation effectively.

Capital structure

The capital structure of the 
Commission is shown as taxpayers’ 
equity, which is funded by the annual 
resource allocation from our sponsor 
department. The statements of 
financial position and changes in 
taxpayers’ equity for the year provide 
more information. The deficit value 
of taxpayers’ equity as at 31 March 
2016 was £2.5m (£4.2m at 31 March 
2015).
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Delivering value for money

We aim to carry out all of our work efficiently and effectively. In common with 
other public bodies, our budget for the period 2016-20 has been reduced as 
part of the UK Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review carried out 
in Autumn 2015.  We will continue to ensure we are delivering work with real 
impact and manage our organisation effectively using our available resources.

In 2015/16 we commenced delivery of a plan to transform the way we work 
to improve our capability and work more effectively. On an ongoing basis we 
review our accommodation to further reduce our costs as well as decreasing 
our corporate support costs, while continuing to deliver our programme of 
work and services.

Key performance indicators

The Commission reports monthly to the Executive Leadership Team and 
Delivery Board on the following key performance indicators. The Board of 
Commissioners (‘the Board’) reviews the report at each meeting. 

Key performance indicator 2015/16              
target

2015/16 
outturn

Success rate of completed strategic legal actions 70% 65%

Number of unique visitors to the website 2.06m 1.7m

Website user satisfaction rating out of 5 4.0 4.3

Twitter engagement levels 12,000 19,535

Number of stage 1 complaints received <30 23

Complaints acknowledged with five working days 90% 96%

Complaints responded to within 20 working days 90% 100%

Complaints upheld by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office <2% 0%

Requests made under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 responded to within the 
statutory deadlines 

100% 99%
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Key performance indicator 2015/16              
target

2015/16 
outturn

Requests made under the Data Protection Act 
1998 responded to within the statutory deadlines 100% 100%

Parliamentary questions answered within the 
deadline 100% 100%

Staff turnover <10% 8.87%

Sickness absence (average number of staff 
days lost to illness per FTE) <9 8.89

Overall, the Commission has met 
or exceeded its targets in ten of 
the operational key performance 
indicators. 

We have seen a decrease in the 
success rate in legal cases we have 
funded or intervened in at 65 per 
cent; marginally below the target. This 
is a reflection of the strategic nature 
of the cases taken, in areas where 
the law is developing, or where our 
arguments are unprecedented.

There has been a slight increase 
in our sickness absence rate to 
an average of 8.89 days lost to 
illness per FTE compared with 8.5 
in 2014/15. Excluding long-term 
absence, the average was just over 
three days. 

The number of complaints we have 
received continues to fall, from 26 
last year to 23 in 2015/16, due to 
targeted improvements made in 
the handling of and responses to 
information requests. 

In 2015/16 the website received  
2.2 million visits, with unique visits 
at 1.7 million. We undertook a major 
refresh of our website in 2015/16 
and, while this impacted on visitor 
numbers, it has resulted in an 
improved user satisfaction rating 
of 4.3 out of 5, from a baseline of 
3 for the old site. We have seen a 
significant increase in social media 
engagement levels, including a 31 
per cent increase in Twitter followers 
through a significant improvement in 
the quality of our digital content.

The timeliness of our responses to 
Freedom of Information requests fell 
just short of our target with 99 per 
cent answered within the deadline, 
which constituted an improvement 
from 96 per cent last year.
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Sustainability

The Commission aims to include sustainable development in its decision-
making and activities. We have an environmental policy consistent with the 
UK’s commitment to sustainable development, the UK Government’s ‘Greening 
Government’ agenda and the targets set out in the 2006 Energy Review. In 
2015/16 the Commission had fewer than 250 full-time equivalent staff and is 
exempt from reporting against the full range of Greening Government targets.

The Commission uses, where possible, environmentally friendly office 
consumables from sustainable or recycled resources, many of which are 
recycled in turn. Furthermore, we are committed to controlling the amount of 
water and energy consumed in our buildings, and where possible to making 
use of fuel-efficient transportation methods. By rationalising our IT data centres 
and investing in new technology the Commission has reduced its data centre 
electricity consumption by 10 per cent since March 2015. During 2016 the 
Commission is updating its video-conferencing equipment to reduce the need 
for staff to travel between Commission offices. 

Performance report signed by:

Rebecca Hilsenrath 
Chief Executive
27 June 2016
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The Board of Commissioners

As at 31 March 2016 the Board was led by the Chair, Baroness (Onora) O’Neill 
CBE, and comprised 10 non-executive Commissioners and the Chief Executive 
who is a Commissioner ex-officio.

The Board members were:

■ Baroness (Onora) O’Neill CBE (Chair) (term of office ended on 31 
March 2016)

■ Caroline Waters OBE (Deputy Chair)

■ Evelyn Asante-Mensah OBE 

■ Ann Beynon OBE (Wales Commissioner) 

■ Laura Carstensen

■ Lord (Chris) Holmes MBE (Disability Commissioner) 

■ Susan Johnson OBE

■ Kaliani Lyle (Scotland Commissioner) (term of office ended on 28 
March 2016)

■ Lorna McGregor

■ Professor Lesley Sawers (Scotland Commissioner) (appointed for 
a five year term from 29 March 2016)

■ Professor Swaran Singh

■ Sarah Veale CBE

Directors’ report
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The term of appointment of the Chair expired on 31 March 2016. 

The Secretary of State has appointed David Isaac CBE as her preferred 
candidate for Chair and he took up the post on 10 May 2016. From 1 April 2016 
to 9 May 2016 the Secretary of State appointed Deputy Chair Caroline Waters 
to serve as Interim Chair and Sarah Veale to serve as Interim Deputy Chair. 

The term of appointment of the Scotland Commissioner, Kaliani Lyle, expired 
on 28 March 2016 and the new Scotland Commissioner, Professor Lesley 
Sawers, was appointed on 29 March 2016. 

The Secretary of State extended the appointment of the Wales Commissioner, 
Ann Beynon, until 8 May 2016. June Milligan was appointed as Wales 
Commissioner from 9 May 2016.

There are biographies for the Commissioners at: www.equalityhumanrights. 
com/about-us/about-commission/commissioners

The Disability Committee

The Disability Committee is chaired 
by Lord (Chris) Holmes MBE. The 
Committee met six times during the 
course of the year. In accordance 
with the provisions of the Equality Act 
2006, the Committee is made up of 
between seven and nine members, 
at least half of whom are or have 
been disabled persons. 

The Equality Act 2006 sets out 
the functions of the Commission 
that are delegated to the Disability 
Committee so far as they relate to 
‘disability matters’. Such delegation 
does not prevent the Commission 
from exercising a power, or fulfilling 
a duty, by taking action that relates 
partly to disability matters and partly 
to other matters. 

The Committee uses its powers 
and responsibilities to shape and 
support the Commission’s work that 
affects disabled people and embed 
the rights of disabled people in the 
programme of work driven by the 
Commission’s three-year strategy. 

Following an independent review of 
the Disability Committee in 2013, 
and subsequent recommendation by 
the Commission, the then Secretary 
of State decided to dissolve the 
Committee in 2017. Statutory 
Instrument 2014 No. 406 The 
Equality Act 2006 (Dissolution of the 
Disability Committee) Order 2014 
has been approved by Parliament.

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/who-we-are/our-commissioners-committees-and-governance/about-our-commissioners
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There is further information about 
the members of the Disability 
Committee and its work at: www. 
equalityhumanrights.com/about-
us/about-the-commission/the-
commissioners/disability-committee

The Scotland Committee

The Scotland Committee was 
chaired by Kaliani Lyle and met 
formally four times during 2015/16. 
In addition, the Committee met 
informally on two occasions.

The Committee exercises in Scotland 
some of the Commission’s powers 
as delegated in the Equality Act 
2006, subject to exceptions related 
to disability matters (delegated to 

the Disability Committee) and advice 
or guidance on a Britain-wide basis 
(provided by the Commission). The 
Committee also has delegated to 
it the power to give advice to the 
Scottish Government in respect of 
new laws or proposed changes to 
the law which, in the opinion of the 
Commission, affect only Scotland. 

There is additional information about 
the Scotland Committee and its work 
at: 
www.equalityhumanrights.com/
about-us/devolved-authorities/
commission-scotland

‘The Committee 
uses its powers and 
responsibilities to 
shape and support the 
Commission’s work 
that affects disabled 
people.’

Equality and Human Rights Commission Annual Report and Accounts  
1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/who-we-are/our-commissioners-committees-and-governance/disability-committee
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/about-commission-scotland/meet-scotland-committee


33

A
ccountability report
www.equalityhumanrights.comAccountability report

The Wales Committee 

The Wales Committee was chaired 
by Ann Beynon OBE and met four 
times during 2015/16.

The Committee exercises in Wales 
the Commission’s powers as 
delegated in the Equality Act 2006 
subject to exceptions relating to 
disability matters (delegated to the 
Disability Committee) and advice or 
guidance on a Britain-wide basis 
(provided by the Commission). The 
Committee gives advice to the Welsh 
Government about the effect of 
legislation affecting only Wales. 

There is additional information about 
the Wales Committee and its work 
at: www.equalityhumanrights.com/
about-us/devolved-authorities/the-
commission-in-wales

The Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee

The Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee is chaired 
by Caroline Waters OBE and 
met four times during the year to 
discharge its duties. It comprises 
three Commissioners and an 
independent member, Helen Murlis. 

There is a full explanation of the 
statutory functions of the Disability, 
Scotland and Wales Committees and 
of the role of the Human 

Resources and Remuneration 
Committee in the Commission’s 
Governance Framework at: 
www.equalityhumanrights.
com/en/publication-download/
governance-framework

The Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee 

During 2015/16 the Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee was 
chaired by Laura Carstensen. The 
Committee met five times during the 
year ending 31 March 2016. 

The Committee comprises three 
Commissioners, two independent 
members and one co-opted member. 
Under its terms of reference the 
Committee may, with the approval 
of the Board, co-opt members for up 
to a year to provide specialist skills, 
knowledge and experience that the 
Committee needs at a particular 
time. The power to co-opt a member 
was used for the first time in March 
2016.

The independent members of the 
Committee are Roger Dunshea and 
Dean Parker, who were appointed 
with effect from 1 April 2014. From 1 
March 2016 the Committee co-opted 
the skills of Erika Lewis.

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/about-commission-wales/wales-committee
www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/governance-framework
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The Committee is advisory 
and assists the Board and the 
Accounting Officer by reviewing 
the comprehensiveness, reliability 
and integrity of the Commission’s 
internal controls, risk management 
processes and governance 
arrangements, along with the quality 
and reliability of financial reporting 
within the Commission.

The Committee advises the Board 
on the appointment of the internal 
auditor, approves the internal 
audit strategy and work plan, and 
ensures that internal audit provides 
an appropriate level of assurance 
to the Accounting Officer and the 
Board. The Committee receives the 
National Audit Office (NAO) external 
audit strategy and reviews the Audit 
Completion Report and associated 
management letter, as well as any 
recommendations that the NAO 
identifies during its audit work. 
Representatives of the internal and 
external auditors and Commission 
staff, as necessary, attend Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee 
meetings. The sponsor department 
attends the meetings in an observer 
role. The Chief Executive may attend 
the meetings. 

Accounting Officer

Mark Hammond was appointed Chief 
Executive, ex-officio Commissioner 
and Accounting Officer in June 2011. 
Mark Hammond left the Commission 
on 31 August 2015. Rebecca 
Hilsenrath served as Acting Chief 
Executive and Accounting Officer 
from 1 September 2015 and took 
up the role of Chief Executive, ex-
officio Commissioner and Accounting 
Officer in November 2015, subject to 
a recommendation to the Secretary 
of State by the new Chair when 
in post. The responsibilities of the 
Accounting Officer are set out on 
page 40. The Accounting Officer is 
also responsible for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control. 
The governance statement on pages 
42-55 sets out how this responsibility 
has been discharged in the year to 
31 March 2016.

Senior management

The role of senior management 
is to help the Chief Executive 
develop and implement strategy, 
provide leadership for staff, set work 
priorities, monitor performance and 
manage risk.

There is further information about the 
members of senior management in 
the remuneration and staff report on 
pages 56-74. 
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Register of Commissioners’ 
interests

The Commission maintains a 
register of Commissioners’ interests, 
which is available for review at: 
www.equalityhumanrights.com/
about-us/about-commission/
commissioners/board-meetings/
commissioners-interests

Corporate governance

Information about our corporate 
governance structure can be found 
throughout this section of the report 
and on the Commission’s website at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights. 
com/en/who-we-are/our-
commissioners-committees-and-
governance

The effectiveness of the system of 
governance, and risk and control 
processes across the Commission 
are described in the governance 
statement which starts on page 42.

Internal audit

Grant Thornton UK LLP provided 
the internal audit service to the 
Commission. Its role is to provide 
independent assurance on risk 
management, financial systems 
design and operation, and other 
areas for review as determined 
by the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee. Grant Thornton UK LLP 

was appointed in May 2014 for a 
three-year term using the Crown 
Commercial Services framework.

Auditing of accounts

The external audit is carried out by 
the Comptroller and Auditor General 
through the NAO, who is required 
to examine, certify and report on 
the annual financial statements in 
readiness for their laying before the 
Houses of Parliament. The NAO’s 
fee for the audit of the 2015/16 
financial statements was £50,000 
(and was £50,000 in 2014/15). 

As far as the Accounting Officer 
(Chief Executive) is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of 
which the Commission’s auditor is 
unaware, and the Chief Executive 
has taken all the steps that ought 
to have been taken to make 
herself aware of any relevant 
information and to establish that the 
Commission’s auditor is aware of 
that information.

The Accounting Officer confirms 
that the annual report and accounts 
as a whole are fair, balanced and 
understandable, and that she takes 
personal responsibility for the 
annual report and accounts and the 
judgements for determining that it is 
fair, balanced and understandable.

www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-commission/commissioners/board-meetings/commissioners-interests
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/who-we-are/our-commissioners-committees-and-governance
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Personal data-related incidents

During 2015/16 there were no personal data-related incidents.

Tax arrangements of public sector appointees 

In accordance with HM Treasury guidance on disclosure, the following tables 
set out the number of interim staff and the assurances given about tax status.

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220 
per day and that last for longer than six months

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016 10

Of which:

Number that have existed for less than 1 year at the time of 
reporting 6

Number that have existed for between 1 and 2 years at the 
time of reporting 2

Number that have existed for between 2 and 3 years at the 
time of reporting -

Number that have existed for between 3 and 4 years at the 
time of reporting -

Number that have existed for 4 years or more at the time of 
reporting 2

The Commission confirms that all existing off-payroll engagements, 
outlined above, have at some point been subject to a risk-based 
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is 
paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance 
has been sought and received.
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For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for more than £220 
per day and that last for longer than six months

All required assurances have been given.

For any off-payroll engagements of board members and/or senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2015 
and 31 March 2016

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six 
months in duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 12

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving 
the Commission the right to request assurance in relation to 
income tax and National Insurance obligations 

12

Number for whom assurance has been requested 12

Of which:

Number for whom assurance has been received 12

Number for whom assurance has not been received -

Number that have been terminated as a result of assurance 
not being received -

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or 
senior officials with significant financial responsibility, during 
the financial year.

-

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘Board 
members and/or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility’, during the financial year

6
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Payment of suppliers

The Commission is committed to 
the Prompt Payment Code (www.
promptpaymentcode.org.uk/) and 
aims to pay all undisputed invoices 
within 30 days if there is no specific 
provision in the contract. Against 
this measure, 99.5 per cent of 
undisputed invoices were paid within 
the target (the same as in 2014/15).

The Commission is also committed 
to supporting small and medium-
sized enterprises by aiming to 
achieve payment of undisputed 
supplier invoices within five 
days. Against this measure, the 
Commission paid undisputed 
invoices on average within three 
days (and within three days in 
2014/15). 

The Commission defines undisputed 
invoices as supplier invoices that 
quote a valid purchase order 
number, have been receipted and 
have been physically received by the 
Finance Team.

Donations

During 2015/16, the Commission 
donated a small amount of surplus 
office equipment with a nil net book 
value to charity. There were no other 
charitable or political donations in the 
year.

Complaints to the 
Commission 

The Commission welcomes 
comments and suggestions about its 
performance, including complaints. We 
consider all complaints we receive and 
use this feedback to help us to develop 
and improve the way we work.

We treat every expression of 
dissatisfaction that requires a 
response as a complaint. This 
includes dissatisfaction with the 
standard of service that should be 
expected from us, the behaviour of 
our staff in delivering that service, 
or any action by our staff or others 
engaged on Commission business, 
as laid out in our complaints policy 
(service complaints). Our complaints 
policy does not cover comments 
about our policies or policy decisions, 
or dissatisfaction with our policies 
or decisions about individual cases, 
funding, or requests for legal advice 
and assistance. The Commission has 
an alternative resolution system for 
dealing with these.

In the 12 months to the end of 
March 2016 we received 12 service 
complaints, a reduction on 2014/15 
when we received 17. Of these, nine 
were resolved at the first stage of our 
complaints procedure; one complaint 
was found justified in part. 
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In the remaining three cases, 
the complainants asked for their 
complaints to be reviewed under 
the second stage of our complaints 
procedure. One of these complaints 
was partially upheld at this review 
stage; the other two were not upheld. 

Those who feel that their complaint 
has not been resolved after it 
has been through both stages 
of the Commission’s complaints 
procedure can refer the matter 
to the Parliamentary and Health 
Service Ombudsman. In the twelve 
months to the end of March 2016 
two complaints handled by the 
Commission were referred to the 
Ombudsman for consideration. One 
was not upheld; at time of writing 
we are waiting to hear from the 
Ombudsman about the outcome of 
the second.

In the year to the end of March 2016 
the majority of complaints related to 
Commission responses to enquiries, 
and material in Commission 
publications and on its website. As 
a result of investigating relevant 
complaints, we have made changes 
to some website information and to 
published Commission guidance.

Information about the Commission’s 
complaints policy is available on the 
Commission’s website: https://
www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/
complaint-policy-and-procedure

Community and social 
responsibility

The Commission recognises that 
there is an increasingly urgent 
requirement for all organisations 
to take a responsible, proactive 
approach to minimising the negative 
impact of their activities on the local 
and global environment, and to 
promote best environmental practice 
and continuous improvement. This is 
consistent with our commitment to 
fairness, dignity and respect.

The Commission has a policy 
whereby members of staff are 
allowed up to three days a year 
(paid) to undertake voluntary work 
and are encouraged to take up some 
voluntary activity. Members of staff of 
the Commission act as school 
governors and trustees of charities; 
they are active in raising funds for 
charitable purposes; and Commission 
premises are used for fund-raising 
events at lunchtimes.

‘The Commission has a policy whereby members of staff 
are allowed up to three days a year (paid) to undertake 
voluntary work.’

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/complaint-policy-and-procedure
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Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities

Under the Equality Act 2006 the Secretary of State, with the consent of HM 
Treasury, has directed the Equality and Human Rights Commission to prepare 
for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis 
set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals 
basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Equality 
and Human Rights Commission and of its income, expenditure, changes 
in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. In preparing the 
accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of 
the Government Financial Reporting Manual, and in particular to: 

■ observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State,
with the consent of HM Treasury, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting
policies on a consistent basis

■ make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

■ state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the
Government Financial Reporting Manual have been followed,
and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
statements and

■ prepare the financial statements on a going-concern basis.

Accountability report – 
statement of Accounting 
Officer’s responsibilities
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The Home Secretary and then Minister for Women and Equalities appointed 
Mark Hammond, the then Chief Executive of the Commission, as Accounting 
Officer of the Commission on 22 June 2011. The Permanent Secretary for 
the Department for Culture Media and Sport appointed Rebecca Hilsenrath, 
the current Chief Executive of the Commission, as Accounting Officer of the 
Commission on 1 September 2015. The responsibilities of the Accounting 
Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public 
finances for which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping proper 
records and for safeguarding the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s 
assets, are set out in ‘Managing Public Money’, which is published by HM 
Treasury.
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Introduction

This governance statement is designed to supplement the information 
provided in the financial statements. It sets out the governance structure, 
internal controls and risk management processes for the Commission. It 
applies to the financial year 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 and up to the date 
of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. It accords with HM Treasury 
guidance. The statement includes a review of the effectiveness of the 
Commission’s governance arrangements and how they support the efficient 
use of resources in order to deliver the Commission’s aims and objectives.

The governance structure of the Commission

The governance structure of the Commission provides independent control 
and oversight of the Commission’s own operations. Schedule 1 to the 
Equality Act 2006 formally established the Commission’s Board.

The Board provides:

■ effective support and challenge in order to ensure good
governance and internal control

■ additional rigour and discipline in decision-making, and

■ insight from the wider experience of non-executive members
which informs the thinking of the Commission.

The Board is supported by three statutory decision-making Committees 
(Disability, Scotland and Wales), with powers set out in the Equality Act 2006.

Accountability report – 
governance statement
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The Board has established two non-statutory Committees (Audit and Risk 
Assurance, and Human Resources and Remuneration) with advisory 
responsibilities.

The Board and each of the Committees have a clear remit and terms of 
reference; these maintain clarity and allow Board and Committee members to 
monitor performance and manage risk. 

The Board of Commissioners

Details of the Commissioners who served as members of the Board between 
1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 are given at page 30.

Board members are independent in character and judgement and any 
relationship that could affect a member’s judgement when participating in 
Board decisions is noted at page 111 below. The Commission maintains a 
register of Commissioners’ interests and at the start of each Board meeting 
Commissioners are reminded to keep the register up to date and to declare 
any interests in the agenda items for that meeting.

The Commissioners’ register of interests is available at:  
www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-commission/
commissioners/board-meetings/commissioners-interests

The Commission’s governance framework incorporates the responsibilities of 
the Board and its Committees and standards of conduct for members. This 
code of practice and conduct has been prepared in line with the Cabinet 
Office Code of Best Practice for Board Members of Public Bodies, taking 
account of the nature of the Commission’s business. It also reflects the 
principles set out in: the HM Treasury publication ‘Corporate governance 
in central government departments: Code of good practice’; the Financial 
Reporting Council’s UK Corporate Governance Code; the HM Treasury Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee Handbook; good governance principles 
developed by the Independent Commission on Good Governance; and 
current best practice principles in corporate governance.

The governance framework, which includes the Board’s terms of reference, is 
available at:  
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/
governance-framework 

www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-commission/commissioners/board-meetings/commissioners-interests
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/governance-framework
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The Board meets regularly and is supported by a dedicated Commissioners’ 
Office. The Board is responsible for setting the overall direction, policy 
and plans of the Commission. The specific responsibilities of the Board 
are detailed in the governance framework. The agreed minutes of Board 
meetings are published on the Commission’s website:  
www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/corporate-reporting/board-meetings

During 2015/16, the Board met seven times. The attendance figures for these 
Board meetings are noted below.

Board performance and effectiveness review
During 2015/16 the Board and officers continued to implement the Board 
effectiveness action plan agreed by the Board in September 2014. Under 
the action plan, measures were put in place to improve the quality of advice 
to the Board and enable more strategic discussion and decision-making. A 
programme of development and briefing sessions for Board members was also 
introduced. The Board assessed progress against the action plan in July 2015. 

A further internal Board effectiveness review was carried out in August – 
September 2015 reporting to the Deputy Chair. All Commissioners and senior 
management participated. In November 2015 the Board agreed the findings 
of this review and a further Board effectiveness action plan. The review 
concluded that:

■ overall, the Board was performing effectively

■ there were some areas that needed continued work to ensure
improvements made under the 2014/15 action plan were
sustained, and

■ there were some areas where the Board’s effectiveness might
improve further, particularly in: articulating its priorities and
strategic direction; improving some elements of decision-
making at Board meetings; and improved management of Board
members’ direct relationships with stakeholders.

www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/corporate-reporting/board-meetings
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Progress against the action plan will 
be reviewed by the Board as part of 
the next Board effectiveness review 
in November 2016 and mid-way 
through the year. While the action 
plan focuses on the effectiveness 
of the Board itself, several of the 
wider organisational and cultural 
development actions being 
implemented in 2015/16 across the 
Commission under the Great Place 
Plan also relate to the effectiveness 
of the Board’s decision-making and 
leadership.

Committees of the Board

Disability Committee

The Disability Committee is chaired 
by Lord (Chris) Holmes MBE and 
met six times during the course of 
the year.

Lord Holmes attended all of the 
meetings held during 2015/16.

Professor Swaran Singh is also a 
member of the Disability Committee; 
he attended all of the meetings held 
during 2015/16.

Further information about the 
Disability Committee has been 
provided at page 31.

Scotland Committee

The Scotland Committee was 
chaired by Kaliani Lyle until the 
end of her term of office on 28 
March 2016. From 29 March Lesley 
Sawers chaired the Committee. The 
Committee met formally four times 
during the course of the year.

Kaliani Lyle attended all of the 
meetings held during 2015/16. No 
meetings took place while Lesley 
Sawers was in post.

Further information about the 
Scotland Committee has been 
provided at page 32.

Wales Committee

The Wales Committee is chaired by 
Ann Beynon OBE and met four times 
during the course of the year.

Ann Beynon attended three of the 
four meetings held during 2015/16.

Further information about the Wales 
Committee has been provided at 
page 33 above.
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Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee

The Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee was chaired by Laura 
Carstensen. The Committee comprises 
the Chair, two Commissioners, two 
independent members and, from 1 
March 2016, one co-opted member. 

The Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee is responsible for 
providing independent advice and 
constructive challenge and for 
reviewing the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective system 
of governance, risk and financial 
and other control processes across 
the Commission in support of the 
Commission’s objectives. 

The Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee receives the National 
Audit Office’s (NAO’s) audit 
strategy and reviews the annual 
audit completion report and 
associated management letter 
and any recommendations 
that the NAO identifies during 
audit work. The Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee advises 
the Board on the appointment of 
the internal auditor and approves 
the internal audit strategy and 
work plan. It also reviews the 
reports of the internal auditor 
and ensures that management 
responses are appropriate and that 
recommendations are implemented.

In addition to the reports provided by 
the NAO and the internal auditor, the 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
receives regular updates on the 
strategic risk register, significant 
operational risks, procurement 
and the progress made on the 
implementation of internal audit 
recommendations. At each meeting 
the Committee undertakes an in-
depth look at the risk register and 
the risk management arrangements 
for a selected programme of work. 
The programmes selected are ones 
that are considered to be central to 
the delivery of the Business Plan 
objectives.

In 2015/16, the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee considered 
and advised on the revision 
of the Framework Document 
which governs the relationship 
between the Commission and its 
sponsor department. The revision 
was required by sponsorship 
responsibility for the Commission 
moving from the Department 
for Culture, Media and Sport to 
the Department for Education. 
The Committee also received a 
paper detailing the Commission’s 
assessment of cyber risk threat and 
the actions taken to deter, detect and 
resist this threat. The assessment 
was based on a NAO briefing note.

During 2015/16, the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee met five times.
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Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee is chaired by 
Caroline Waters OBE and comprises the Chair, two Commissioners and one 
independent member.

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee provides strategic 
focus and assurance for matters relating to the Commission’s human 
resources arrangements, including pay and conditions of employment. It 
contributes to the continuing development of human resources strategies that 
support the strategic objectives and priorities of the Commission as a good 
employer and comply with current legal requirements. 

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee provides oversight of 
organisational review and change programmes, as initiated by the Board, in 
consultation with the Chief Executive.

During 2015/16 the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee met 
four times.

47
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Board members Board

Audit 
and Risk 

Assurance 
Committee

Human 
Resources 

and 
Remuneration 
Committee

Onora O’Neill CBE, Chair 7/7

Caroline Waters OBE, Deputy Chair 7/7 4/4

Evelyn Asante-Mensah OBE 5/7 4/4

Ann Beynon OBE 6/7 5/5

Laura Carstensen 6/7 5/5

Lord Chris Holmes MBE 7/7

Susan Johnson OBE 7/7 5/5

Kaliani Lyle 7/7

Lorna McGregor 6/7

Professor Lesley Sawers 0/0*

Professor Swaran Singh 4/7

Sarah Veale CBE 6/7 3/4

Mark Hammond (Chief Executive) 2/2

Rebecca Hilsenrath (Chief Executive) 4/4

Independent and co-opted 
committee members

Roger Dunshea (independent) 5/5

Dean Parker (independent) 5/5

Helen Murlis (independent) 4/4

Erika Lewis (co-opted) 1/1

* There were no Board meetings after Professor Sawers’ appointment.

Board and Committee attendance

A
ccountability report
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Internal control

The Commission produces an 
annual Business Plan setting 
out what it will do and the key 
performance measures for the year. 
The Business Plan for 2015/16 was 
informed by the objectives within 
the revised 2012–15 Strategic 
Plan, evidence from the triennial 
review, ‘How Fair is Britain?’, and 
legislative requirements and took into 
account our existing commitments 
such as following up on previous 
inquiries and assessments. The 
Business Plan was formally agreed 
by the Board. On 10 May 2016 the 
Commission published its 2016-
19 Strategic Plan which sets out 
priorities for the next three years.

The tailored review process is part 
of the governance arrangements for 
public bodies. The review is carried 
out by the sponsor department; the 
aim of the review is to provide a 
strong challenge of the continuing 
need for the Commission, both 
its function and form. The review 
also considers the control and 
governance arrangements in place 
to ensure that the Commission is 
complying with recognised principles 
of good corporate governance. The 
next review of the Commission is 
expected to be carried out during late 
2016.

The reporting of performance against 
Business Plan targets is carried out 
on a monthly, quarterly and annual 
basis as an integral part of the 
performance and management review 
process conducted by the Delivery 
Board. The reports are presented 
to the appropriate managers, senior 
management, the Board and the 
sponsor department. Strategic risks 
and issues considered by senior 
management are escalated to the 
Board, with agreed management 
action where appropriate.

At the beginning of the year the 
Commission’s sponsor department 
was the Department for Culture, 
Media and Sport, and a Framework 
Document was in place. From 1 
September 2015 sponsorship of 
the Commission passed to the 
Department for Education. Up 
until 31 March 2016 the existing 
Department for Culture, Media 
and Sport Framework Document 
remained in place. Discussions 
on the terms of a new Framework 
Document between the Commission 
and the Department for Education 
are currently underway. A copy of 
the Framework Document between 
the Department for Culture, Media 
and Sport and the Commission 
is available at: https://www. 
equalityhumanrights.com/en/
publication-download/department-
culture-media-and-sport-and-ehrc-
framework-document

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/department-culture-media-and-sport-and-ehrc-framework-document
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The Framework Document sets out 
accountabilities, responsibilities and 
the financial delegations given to the 
Accounting Officer of the Commission.

In 2015/16, the Commission operated in 
a manner consistent with the Framework 
Document and the requirements of the 
HM Treasury guidance contained in 
‘Managing Public Money’.

The Commission has a clear system 
and hierarchy of corporate financial 
delegations for budget holders 
and managers, which underpin 
the corporate financial delegations 
given to the Commission under the 
Framework Document.

A corporate procurement policy and 
guidance notes covering all areas 
of procurement, including contract 
management, have been produced 
and made available to all staff on 
the corporate intranet. The policy 
and guidance notes were reviewed 
during the year. Compliance with the 
procurement policy is monitored by the 
senior procurement business partner, 
who is a professionally qualified 
specialist. Compliance is reported to 
senior management and the Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee.

The Commission has in place whistle-
blowing procedures consistent with 
the Public Interest Disclosure Act 
1998. These arrangements allow 
whistle-blowers to identify problems 
privately and without repercussions.

Senior Management Team/
Executive Leadership Team

From April to August 2015 the 
Chief Executive was supported 
by a Senior Management Team 
(SMT) that met weekly and a Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT) that met 
monthly. The SMT supported the 
Chief Executive in the development 
and implementation of strategy 
and in managing the Commission’s 
strategic risks. The SLT provided 
leadership for staff, set work 
priorities, monitored performance 
and managed operational risk. The 
SMT was informed by the work of the 
Delivery Board, which met monthly 
to scrutinise performance information 
and risks and report on these to the 
SMT.

The Chief Executive, Mark 
Hammond, left the Commission on 
31 August 2015. Rebecca Hilsenrath 
took up the role of Chief Executive 
in November 2015, subject to a 
recommendation to the Secretary of 
State by the new Chair when in post, 
following a period as Acting Chief 
Executive on the departure of Mark 
Hammond. 
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After her appointment the Chief Executive undertook a review of the 
governance structure and took the decision to combine the SMT and the SLT 
into a more inclusive and transparent Executive Leadership Team (ELT). The 
Chief Executive combines the role of Chief Legal Officer with that of Chief 
Executive.

The Commission’s Chief Resources Officer, Curtis Juman, left the 
Commission on 3 January 2016. The position has not been replaced as the 
Commission is undertaking a review of its operating model. As part of this, 
structures and roles may change.

Internal audit

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee agrees an annual internal 
audit plan, which is designed to provide assurance on the Commission’s 
internal controls. The internal auditor, Grant Thornton, reports to the Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee on the results of its work, recommending 
improvements as appropriate. 

During 2015/16, the internal audit plan comprised:

■ a risk management workshop for senior staff

■ an advisory review of the Commission’s IT strategy and the
procurement of IT contracts

■ assurance reviews of the systems to assure the security of
physical data, the financial controls for procurement and
purchase-to-pay, the governance framework for investigations and
inquiries, the Commission’s business continuity arrangements,
corporate governance, and the design and delivery of the Great
Place Plan. The assurance rating for all these reviews was of
substantial assurance, and

■ A review of the progress made in implementing recommendations
from prior audit reports.

The Commission has agreed action plans and timescales in place to 
implement recommendations made during the audit programme. The Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee checks progress at each meeting.
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Risk management

The Commission’s risk management approach is based on devolved 
accountability so that risks are owned by those best placed to manage them. 
The overall strategic direction on risk management is set centrally. 

The Delivery Board acts as a forum where operational risk registers 
are scrutinised and moderated. The highest rated operational risks are 
consolidated into a significant operational risk register that is escalated to 
senior management and to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. The 
Commission continues to build skills and capacity in the approach to risk 
management. During 2015/16, 15 Commission staff gained the recognised 
Management of Risk (M_o_R®) Foundation certification. 

Through 2016/17 the Executive Leadership Team will discuss improvements 
to the risk management approach.

Throughout the year the Board has scrutinised the strategic risk register; 
reviewing the risks and the mitigating strategies.

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee assures the quality of the risk 
management processes to ensure that risks are identified and managed 
appropriately. It reviews and challenges the identified risks and their 
mitigating actions to ensure that these are appropriate and properly 
considered.  

The Commission’s internal auditor regularly reviews and reports on risk 
management processes to provide assurance that these are operating 
effectively. 



53

A
ccountability report
www.equalityhumanrights.com

Strategic risks in 2015/16

As at 31 March 2016, the Commission’s strategic risk register contained 
eight risks. These risks are of a long-term ongoing nature requiring constant 
monitoring and oversight.

■ Loss of National Human Rights Institution (NHRI) status: loss of perceived
independence leading to losing the Commission’s NHRI ‘A’ status.

During 2015/16 this risk diminished as the Commission was
reaccredited as an ‘A’ rated NHRI.

■ Failure to protect and enhance the Commission’s reputation: the
Commission is not seen as independent, authoritative and professional.

The Commission continues to manage this risk including through
major improvements to the website being made through 2015/16.

■ Inadequate funding to fulfil the Commission’s role.

During the year this risk increased due to the funding cuts from
the 2015 Spending Review process.

■ Failure to deliver organisational change.

The Commission continues to progress the Great Place Plan and
the associated review of the operating model.

■ Failure to respond appropriately to devolution and constitutional
changes in the UK.

This risk has been very actively managed in year with briefings
and stakeholder engagement on the Scotland and Wales Bills and
the proposals for the British Bill of Rights.

■ Failure to respond appropriately to the changing environment in
the UK’s relationship with Europe.

The Commission has actively engaged with the Ministry of Justice
and will prepare a detailed response to any consultation on the
British Bill of Rights. The Commission has kept a watching brief on
the proposals on membership of the EU and has published a short
factual briefing on its website on the impact of EU membership on
equality and human rights.
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■ The Commission’s strategic direction does not engage
stakeholders.

The Commission has consulted widely on the 2016-19 Strategic
Plan. The Commission’s ‘Is Britain Fairer?’ work engaged a wide
range of stakeholders and forms a strong evidence base for future
strategic direction.

■ Failure to deliver key Business Plan objectives.

During the year this risk was managed through regular progress reporting and, 
where required, the reallocation of resource to priority areas.

Information management

Corporate security and the protection of assets holding sensitive information 
continue to be a priority. During 2015/16 the internal auditors reviewed 
the Commission’s systems to assure the security of physical data and 
the Commission’s business continuity arrangements. Both these reviews 
concluded that the controls and systems in place were suitably designed and 
were operating effectively. 

As a non-departmental public body the Commission is not required to satisfy the 
mandatory requirements of the Security Policy Framework (SPF) but we continue 
to align to the SPF as a well-established framework promoting good practice.

In the twelve months to 31 March 2016 there were four recorded security 
incidents. None of these were personal-data related. Two of the incidents 
were rated as having no impact and the other two low impact as the 
consequence of a virus infection. We have since implemented new security 
measures and systems to protect against virus infections in all their forms.
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Review of effectiveness

The Commission’s Accounting Officer has responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the systems of internal control. This review is informed by 
the Executive Leadership Team and by managers within the Commission 
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework, the work of the internal auditor, and comments made 
by the Comptroller and Auditor General in his reports on the Commission’s 
accounts and by his staff in the NAO in its management letters and in other 
reports.

The systems in place are designed to manage risk to a reasonable level, 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives; they can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. 

The internal auditor’s annual report based on the work completed in the 
agreed internal audit plan provided substantial assurance in respect of 
corporate governance and internal controls. 

Accounting Officer’s conclusion 

I have considered the evidence provided during the production and review 
of the Annual Governance Statement and the independent advice and 
assurance provided by the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. I conclude 
that the Commission has satisfactory governance and risk management 
systems with effective plans to ensure continuous improvement.

Rebecca Hilsenrath
Accounting Officer
28 June 2016
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Commission members’ remuneration** 

Commissioners are recruited and appointed and their remuneration is set by 
the Secretary of State.

a) Chair

Baroness (Onora) O’Neill CBE was Chair throughout the period. She was 
appointed Chair from 12 November 2012. Her appointment ended on 31 
March 2016. The Chair is classed as an office holder and the post is not 
pensionable. 

During the period, the Chair’s remuneration was as follows:

Accountability report – 
remuneration and staff 
report

2015/16 
£

2014/15 
£

Salary 50,000 50,000

Employer’s National Insurance Contributions (NICs) 5,779 5,801

Total 55,779 55,801

Expenses 179 219
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b) Commissioners’ emoluments

c) Fees and expenses for each Commissioner

The average number of Commissioners in post during 2015/16 was 11 (there 
were 10 in 2014/15).

** Information and sections within the remuneration report marked with 
double asterisks have been audited.

2015/16 
£’000

2014/15 
£’000

Commissioners’ salaries and fees 181 174

Commissioners’ employer’s NICs 14 13

Statutory committee and advisory group 
members’ fees 79 73

Statutory committee and advisory group 
members’ employer’s NICs - -

Total 274 260

Commissioner Fees 
£

Expenses 
£

Evelyn Asante-Mensah OBE 
Appointed for four-year term from 15 January 2013 10,000 -

Ann Beynon OBE 
Term extended to 8 May 2016 10,000 1,421

Laura Carstensen 
Appointed for four-year term from 15 January 2013 10,400 4,410

Lord (Chris) Holmes MBE
Appointed for four-year term from 15 January 2013 27,300 5,584

Susan Johnson OBE
Appointed  for four-year term from 6 January 2015 10,000 1,565

Kaliani Lyle 
Term ended 28 March 2016 9,936 1,344
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Commissioner appointments are not pensionable. 

Fees paid to Laura Carstensen include an additional day worked on the 
appointment of the new Chair.

Fees paid to Lord (Chris) Holmes MBE include additional days worked on the 
Commission’s disability-related work, the project on sports inclusion and on 
improving diversity in the media. Fees also reflect a reasonable adjustment.

Fees paid to Caroline Waters OBE include an allowance for her work as 
Deputy Chair.

Susan Johnson’s fees to 31 July 2015 were paid to her employer.

Fees and expenses paid to independent and co-opted members of the Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee were as follows: 

Commissioner Fees 
£

Expenses 
£

Lorna McGregor
Appointed  for four-year term from 6 January 2015 10,000 1,180

Professor Lesley Sawers
Appointed for five-year term from  29 March 2016 115 -

Professor Swaran Singh 
Appointed for five-year term from 15 January 2013 10,000 1,789

Sarah Veale CBE
Appointed for four-year term from 15 January 2013 10,000 -

Caroline Waters OBE (Deputy Chair)
Appointed for five-year term from 15 January 2013 23,400 -

Fees 
£

Expenses 
£

Roger Dunshea 2,000 137

Dean Parker 2,000 -

Erika Lewis - -
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Remuneration policy

The Commission’s most senior managers comprise the Chief Executive, the 
executive directors and the national directors. The following section contains 
details of the remuneration and pension interests of the most senior managers. 

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee reviews the annual 
reward package of the Chief Executive and senior management. Further 
information about the members and the duties of this Committee can be 
found in the corporate governance report on page 29. 

The trade unions are consulted on pay and conditions of service that apply to 
all staff including, where relevant and appropriate, those which apply to senior 
managers.

a) The Commission has in place a competency framework that
clearly sets out the skills, knowledge and behaviours that staff will
need in order to perform their jobs effectively, and this framework
supports performance management. The Commission’s appraisal
process identifies individual progress and performance against
agreed personal objectives through six-month and annual
appraisal reviews.

b) Until his departure on 3 January 2016, the Chief Resources Officer,
Curtis Juman, was on loan to the Commission from his employer.
Termination of the loan agreement was subject to three months’
notice. The Executive Director Strategy and Policy, Melanie Field,
is on loan to the Commission from her employer. Termination of the
loan agreement is subject to three months’ notice.

c) The former Chief Executive left the Commission on 31 August 2015
and the replacement was appointed initially on a fixed-term basis.

d) All other executive and national directors are on permanent
employment contracts with a three-month notice period.

e) There are no elements of the remuneration package that are not
cash.
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f) On 31 August 2015, the Chief Executive, Mark Hammond, left
the Commission as part of an organisation-wide voluntary exit
scheme. The compensation package was in line with the rules
of the Civil Service Compensation Scheme and under this he
received a payment of £46,185.

**Notes a) to f) above and information and sections within the remuneration 
report marked with double asterisks have been audited.

Chief Executive**

The annual salary of the Chief 
Executive, Mark Hammond, for the 
period 1 April to 31 August 2015 was 
£131,957. 

Total actual emoluments for the 
period were £120,509, including 
employer’s contributions of £13,632 
to the Principal Civil Service Pension 
Scheme (PCSPS). Employer’s NICs 
amounted to a further £12,124. 
During 2015/16, the Chief Executive 
received a performance-related non-
consolidated award of £400 and 
compensation in lieu of notice of 
£27,248. The Chief Executive is an 
ordinary member of the PCSPS, with 
the Commission’s contribution to the 
scheme amounting to the equivalent 
of 24.5 per cent of salary.

The annual salary of the Chief 
Executive, Rebecca Hilsenrath, for 
the period 1 September 2015 to 31 
March 2016 was £105,525. 

Total actual emoluments for the 
period were £72,267, including 

employer’s contributions of £12,983 
to the Principal Civil Service Pension 
Scheme (PCSPS). Employer’s 
NICs amounted to a further £6,240. 
During 2015/16, the Chief Executive 
received a performance-related 
non-consolidated award of £500. 
The Chief Executive is an ordinary 
member of the PCSPS, with the 
Commission’s contribution to the 
scheme amounting to the equivalent 
of 24.5 per cent of salary.

Salary and pension 
entitlements**

The following tables provide details 
of the salary, pension entitlements 
and value of any taxable benefits-in-
kind of the most senior officers of the 
Commission for the period ended 31 
March 2016. 

‘Salary’ includes: gross salary; 
performance pay or bonuses; 
overtime; reserved rights to London 
weighting or London allowances; 
recruitment and retention allowances; 
and any other allowance to the extent 
that it is subject to UK taxation.
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Cabinet Office guidance requires the inclusion of a column for pension 
benefits and a ‘Total’ column. The value of pension benefits accrued during 
the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, 
plus the real increase in any lump sum less the contributions made by the 
individual. The real increases exclude increases due to inflation or any 
increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. 

The ‘Total’ column includes the value of the pension benefits. This figure 
is notional and does not represent remuneration received directly by 
individuals.

The actuarial factors used to calculate cash equivalent transfer values 
(CETVs) were reviewed by the scheme actuary in 2015, so the tables of 
factors used to calculate the CETV at 31 March 2015 are not the same as 
those used to calculate the CETV at 31 March 2016. For consistency, the 
CETVs at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016 have both been calculated 
using the new factors. Therefore, the CETV at 31 March 2015 may differ from 
the corresponding value in last year’s report, which was calculated using the 
previous factors.



63

A
ccountability report
www.equalityhumanrights.com

Pe
ns

io
n

en
tit

le
m

en
ts

**

R
ea

l i
nc

re
as

e 
in

 p
en

si
on

 
an

d 
re

la
te

d 
lu

m
p 

su
m

£’
00

0

Pe
ns

io
n 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

6 
an

d 
re

la
te

d 
lu

m
p 

su
m

 £
’0

00

C
ET

V 
at

31
 M

ar
ch

 
20

15
£’

00
0

C
ET

V 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
6

£’
00

0

R
ea

l i
nc

re
as

e 
in

 C
ET

V 
as

 
fu

nd
ed

 b
y 

em
pl

oy
er

£’
00

0
M

ar
k 

H
am

m
on

d,
  

C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

(to
 3

1 
A

ug
us

t 
20

15
)

0–
2.

5
10

–1
5

15
0

17
3

7

K
at

e 
B

en
ne

tt,
  

N
at

io
na

l D
ire

ct
or

 fo
r W

al
es

0–
2.

5
pl

us
 2

.5
–5

 
lu

m
p 

su
m

20
–2

5
pl

us
 6

0–
65

lu
m

p 
su

m
45

1
48

6
19

M
el

an
ie

 F
ie

ld
,  

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
D

ire
ct

or
 S

tra
te

gy
 

an
d 

P
ol

ic
y 

(fr
om

 1
 A

pr
il 

20
15

)

5–
7.

5
pl

us
 2

0–
22

.5
 

lu
m

p 
su

m

30
–3

5
pl

us
 9

0–
95

lu
m

p 
su

m
44

2
60

1
12

7

R
eb

ec
ca

 H
ils

en
ra

th
, C

hi
ef

 
Le

ga
l O

ffi
ce

r (
to

 3
0 

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
15

)
C

hi
ef

 E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
(fr

om
 1

 
O

ct
ob

er
 2

01
5)

0–
2.

5
0–

5
24

54
21

C
ur

tis
 J

um
an

C
hi

ef
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 O
ffi

ce
r

(to
 3

 J
an

ua
ry

 2
01

6)

0–
2.

5
pl

us
 0

–2
.5

lu
m

p 
su

m

25
–3

0
pl

us
 8

0-
85

 
lu

m
p 

su
m

43
3

45
9

13

A
la

st
ai

r P
rin

gl
e,

  
N

at
io

na
l D

ire
ct

or
 fo

r S
co

tla
nd

2.
5–

5
20

–2
5

22
2

27
7

27



64

Civil Service pensions

Pension benefits are provided 
through the Civil Service pension 
arrangements. From 1 April 2015 
a new pension scheme was 
introduced – the Civil Servants and 
Others Pension Scheme or alpha, 
which provides benefits on a career 
average basis with a normal pension 
age equal to the member’s State 
Pension Age (or 65 if higher). From 
that date all new appointees and the 
majority of those already in service 
joined alpha. Prior to that date, 
participation was in the Principal Civil 
Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS).  
The PCSPS has four sections: three 
providing benefits on a final salary 
basis (classic, premium or classic 
plus) with a normal pension age of 
60; and one providing benefits on a 
whole career basis (nuvos) with a 
normal pension age of 65.

These statutory arrangements are 
unfunded with the cost of benefits 
met by monies voted by Parliament 
each year. Pensions payable under 
classic, premium, classic plus, nuvos 
and alpha are increased annually 
in line with pensions increase 
legislation. Existing members of the 
PCSPS who were within 10 years 
of their normal pension age on 1 
April 2012 remained in the PCSPS 
after 1 April 2015. Those who were 
between 10 years and 13 years 
and five months from their normal 

pension age on 1 April 2012 will 
switch into alpha sometime between 
1 June 2015 and 1 February 2022. 
All members who switch to alpha 
have their PCSPS benefits ‘banked’, 
with those with earlier benefits in 
one of the final salary sections of the 
PCSPS having those benefits based 
on their final salary when they leave 
alpha. (The pension figures quoted 
for senior staff show pension earned 
in PCSPS or alpha – as appropriate. 
Where there are benefits in both the 
PCSPS and alpha the figure quoted 
is the combined value of the benefits 
in the two schemes). Members 
joining from October 2002 may opt 
for either the appropriate defined 
benefit arrangement or a ‘money 
purchase’ stakeholder pension 
with an employer contribution 
(partnership pension account).

Employee contributions are 
salary-related and range between 
3 per cent and 8.05 per cent of 
pensionable earnings for members 
of classic (and members of alpha 
who were members of classic 
immediately before joining alpha) 
and between 4.6 per cent and 8.05 
per cent for members of premium, 
classic plus, nuvos and all other 
members of alpha. Benefits in classic 
accrue at the rate of 1/80th of final 
pensionable earnings for each year 
of service. In addition, a lump sum 
equivalent to three years’ initial 
pension is payable on retirement. 



65

A
ccountability report
www.equalityhumanrights.com

For premium, benefits accrue at the 
rate of 1/60th of final pensionable 
earnings for each year of service. 
Unlike classic, there is no automatic 
lump sum. Classic plus is essentially 
a hybrid with benefits for service 
before 1 October 2002 calculated 
broadly as per classic and benefits for 
service from October 2002 worked out 
as in premium. In nuvos a member 
builds up a pension based on his 
pensionable earnings during their 
period of scheme membership. At the 
end of the scheme year (31 March) 
the member’s earned pension account 
is credited with 2.3 per cent of their 
pensionable earnings in that scheme 
year and the accrued pension is 
uprated in line with pensions increase 
legislation. Benefits in alpha build up 
in a similar way to nuvos, except that 
the accrual rate is 2.32 per cent. In all 
cases members may opt to give up 
(commute) pension for a lump sum 
up to the limits set by the Finance Act 
2004.

The partnership pension account is 
a stakeholder pension arrangement. 
The employer makes a basic 
contribution of between 3 per 
cent and 12.5 per cent up to 30 
September 2015, and 8 per cent 
and 14.75 percent from 1 October 
2015 (depending on the age of 
the member) into a stakeholder 
pension product chosen by the 
employee from a panel of providers. 
The employee does not have 

to contribute, but where they do 
make contributions, the employer 
will match these up to a limit of 3 
per cent of pensionable salary (in 
addition to the employer’s basic 
contribution). Employers also 
contribute a further 0.8 per cent 
of pensionable salary up to 30 
September 2015 and 0.5 per cent of 
pensionable salary from 1 October 
2015 to cover the cost of centrally-
provided risk benefit cover (death in 
service and ill-health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted is the 
pension the member is entitled to 
receive when they reach pension 
age, or immediately on ceasing to be 
an active member of the scheme if 
they are already at or over pension 
age. Pension age is 60 for members 
of classic, premium and classic 
plus, 65 for members of nuvos, and 
the higher of 65 or State Pension 
Age for members of alpha. (The 
pension figures quoted for senior 
staff show pension earned in PCSPS 
or alpha – as appropriate. Where 
there are benefits in both the PCSPS 
and alpha the figure quoted is the 
combined value of the benefits in the 
two schemes, but note that part of 
that pension may be payable from 
different ages.)

Further details about the Civil 
Service pension arrangements 
can be found at: www.
civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed 
capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at 
a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A 
CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure 
pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in 
their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that 
the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure 
applies. 

The figures include the value of any pension benefit in another scheme or 
arrangement which the member has transferred to the Civil Service pension 
arrangements. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to 
the member as a result of their buying additional pension benefits at their own 
cost. CETVs are worked out in accordance with The Occupational Pension 
Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 and do not take 
account of any actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime 
Allowance Tax which may be due when pension benefits are taken.

Real increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not 
include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid 
by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another 
pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors 
for the start and end of the period.
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Fair pay disclosures** 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the 
remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

The remuneration of the highest-paid director in the Commission in the 
financial year 2015/16 was in the range of £105,000 to £110,000 (£130,000 
to £135,000 in 2014/15). This was 2.7 times (3.4 in 2014/15) the median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was £39,217 (£38,345 in 2014/15). The 
pay ratio has decreased as the Chief Executive appointed in year is paid a 
lower salary than the outgoing Chief Executive. In 2015/16 and 2014/15, the 
highest-paid director was a permanent employee. 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related 
pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer 
pension contributions or the CETV of pensions. The annual equivalent 
remuneration paid to interim staff has been estimated, as this information 
is not available. The estimate is based on 222 days at the interim’s agency 
day rate net of value added tax less 30 per cent to cover agency fees and 
employer’s NICs.

In 2015/16 and 2014/15, no permanent employee received remuneration in 
excess of the highest-paid director. In 2015/16 two interim members of staff 
received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director. Remuneration 
ranged from £17,350 to £134,471 (£16,440 to £136,025 in 2014/15).

2015/16 2014/15

Highest-paid director’s total remuneration £’000 105 – 110 130 – 135

Median total remuneration 39,217 38,345

Ratio 2.7 3.4
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Exit packages**

During 2015/16 the Commission ran a scheme that allowed employees to 
volunteer to leave under voluntary terms approved by the Cabinet Office.

The following terms were offered:

■ Employees below their normal pension age – one month’s pay
for every year of pensionable service, up to a maximum of 21
months’ pay. Employees close to retirement age will have their
compensation tapered.

■ Employees above their normal pension age – one month’s pay for
every year of pensionable service up to a maximum of six months’
pay.

■ Employees who have reached their minimum pension age will
be able to choose whether to buy out the actuarial reduction
on their pension using their compensation payment. Where
the compensation payment does not meet the full cost of the
buy-out and the member of staff has a minimum of two years’
qualifying service, the Commission may add the necessary top-up
payment to provide an unreduced pension, provided that the full
compensation payment is surrendered.

■ Employees earning less than £23,000 will be deemed to
be earning that amount for the purposes of calculating their
compensation payment.

In addition, the following employees were not eligible to be considered for 
voluntary exit:

■ employees with less than two years’ current qualifying service

■ agency staff or contractors

■ seconded employees of any description, and

■ employees who have already tendered their resignations or been
notified of their retirement, transfer or dismissal.

Employees on loan will be considered under any scheme run by their own 
home department, which may be expecting them to return and take up posts.
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Total costs incurred comprise: 

Figures for 2014/15 are shown in brackets.

The £187,000 (£398,000 in 2014/15) recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure comprises £233,000 (£420,000 in 2014/15) for 
current year exit costs; £1,000 (£1,000 in 2014/15) for other costs in support of 
the scheme; £3,000 (£4,000 in 2014/15) for employee legal costs; and a credit 
of £50,000 (credit of £27,000 in 2014/15) relating to the prior year scheme.

Exit package cost band

Number 
of other 

departures 
agreed

Total number 
of exit 

packages by        
cost band

£10,000 - £25,000 4  (3) 4  (3) 

£25,000 - £50,000 1  (2) 1  (2) 

£50,000 - £100,000 2  (3) 2  (3) 

£100,000 - £150,000 - (1) - (1)

Total number of exit packages by type 7  (9) 7  (9) 

Total resource cost (£'000) 233 (420) 233 (420) 
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2015/16 2014/15
Staff with a (UK) employment contract (staff 
who are directly employed by the Commission) 195 192

Other
Seconded staff (net of inward and outward 
secondments) -  - 

Agency staff (contracted staff) 8 9

Commissioners 11 10

Total 214 211

2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Staff with a permanent (UK) employment contract

Wages and salaries 8,071 7,832

Social security costs 694 678

Other pension costs 1,729 1,547

Other

Agency staff 1,164 1,193

Seconded staff (net of inward and outward 
secondments) 10 (11)

Commissioners’ emoluments 274 260

Total 11,942 11,499

Staff numbers and related cost**

Staff numbers

The average number of FTE employees in post during the year was as follows:

Salary: ‘Salary’ includes: gross salary, performance pay or bonuses, 
overtime, reserved rights to London weighting or London allowances, 
recruitment and retention allowances, and any other allowances to the extent 
that they are subject to UK taxation.

Staff costs
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Commission staff**

As at 31 March 2016, 207 (196 FTE) 
individuals were directly employed 
by the Commission on a permanent 
or fixed-term basis (this was 203 
(192 FTE) as at 31 March 2015). In 
addition, the Commission engaged 
a small number of staff who are 
support workers, on a secondment 
or loan from within the Civil Service, 
or engaged on an interim or agency 
basis. 

The average number of FTE 
employees in post during the year 
2015/16 was 203 (201 during 
2014/15), including seconded, loan 
or agency staff.

Expenditure on consultancy

During 2015/16 the Commission 
spent £44,000 on consultancy 
costs. £15,000 funded a leadership 
development programme with 
facilitated sessions and coaching for 
the Commission’s senior staff. The 
Commission commissioned an equal 
pay audit in support of its reform of 
the pay and reward strategy at a cost 
of £24,000. £5,000 related to job 
evaluation to enable the equal pay 
audit.

People metrics

There has been a slight increase 
in our sickness absence rate which 
grew to an average of 8.89 days lost 
to illness per employee compared 
with 8.52 in 2014/15. Excluding long-
term absence, the average sick days 
per employee was just over 3.0 days. 

Our rate of voluntary turnover 
for 2015/16 was 8.87 per cent, 
compared to an average of 11.5 per 
cent across the wider public sector 
during 2014 and of 15 per cent 
across organisations of a similar 
size (according to XpertHR Labour 
Turnover Rates 2015 Survey).

Staff consultation and 
engagement 

The Commission is committed to 
communicating and consulting 
with its entire workforce. There are 
regular team meetings, planning 
days and briefings from the Chief 
Executive, complemented by 
additional ‘open meetings’ on an as-
needed basis. 

The Commission recognises 
trade unions and aims to work in 
partnership with the Public and 
Commercial Services Union (PCS) 
and Unite. Joint Negotiation and 
Consultation Committee meetings 
are held quarterly with the trade 
unions. 
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Our Great Place Plan 

Following on from work we did in 2014/15, when 75 per cent of our people 
took part in a survey to identify the characteristics of our ideal organisational 
culture, we have since developed and begun to implement our ‘Great Place 
Plan’. This Plan is our people strategy and outlines how we will bridge the gap 
between where we are now and where we want to be, and will ensure that we 
are in the best possible shape to deliver on our business objectives.  

The Plan is comprised of three key strands: 

■ building capacity, capability, expertise, and relationships

■ getting the basics right, so that we are an exemplary public
service organisation, and

■ ensuring our people feel valued and supported.

For each of these we have identified a range of actions that will help us to 
achieve our culture and vision, to deliver great work in a place that is a great 
place to work. Over the course of the year we have begun to implement these 
actions, and will continue to do so throughout the coming year.  
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Development of our people

We recognise that our people are 
crucial to our success, something that 
is central to our Great Place Plan.

During 2015/16, we have continued 
to invest in our people with 63 per 
cent having taken up opportunities 
to learn new skills and develop 
themselves in a variety of areas 
including report writing, project 
management, policy development, 
giving feedback, leadership and 
investigative practice. We have also 
supported some people through 
various academic qualifications, 
and in the Crossing Thresholds 
Programme (a career mentoring 
programme for women in the Civil 
Service) and the Positive Action 
Pathway (a talent scheme for staff 
from disabled, Black and ethnic 
minority, and lesbian, gay, bisexual 
and transgender groups). We have 
also enabled people to attend a 
range of conferences to keep their 
skills and knowledge current.

Over the course of the year we 
have advertised 44 vacancies and, 
of these, 16 have been filled by our 
own people, enabling us to develop 
them further and see them grow 
into different roles and/or attain 
promotion to the next level. The 
remaining 28 roles we have filled 
with external candidates, giving us 
the opportunity to bring in new skills 
and fresh ideas.

Pensions

The Principal Civil Service Pension 
Scheme (PCSPS) and the Civil 
Servant and Other Pension Scheme 
(CSOPS) – known as ‘alpha’ – are 
unfunded multi-employer defined-
benefit schemes but the Commission 
is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities. 
The scheme actuary valued the 
scheme as at 31 March 2012. 
There are details in the resource 
accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil 
Superannuation at: www. 
civilservicepensionscheme.org. 
uk/about-us/resource-accounts/

For 2015/16, employer’s 
contributions of £1,719,489 were 
payable to the PCSPS (£1,566,655 
in 2014/15) at one of four rates in the 
range 20.0 per cent to 24.5 per cent 
of pensionable earnings, based on 
salary bands. The scheme actuary 
reviews employer contributions 
usually every four years following 
a full scheme valuation. The 
contribution rates are set to meet 
the cost of the benefits accruing 
during 2015/16 to be paid when the 
member retires, and not the benefits 
paid during the year to existing 
pensioners.

www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/about-us/resource-accounts/
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Employees can opt to open a partnership pension account, which is a 
stakeholder pension with an employer contribution. Employer’s contributions 
of £7,001 (£2,846 in 2014/15) were payable to one or more of the panel of 
three appointed stakeholder pension providers. Employer contributions are 
age-related and range from 3.0 per cent to 12.5 per cent of pensionable 
earnings up to September 2015 and from 8.0 per cent to 14.75 per cent of 
pensionable earnings from 1 October 2015. Employers also match employee 
contributions up to 3.0 per cent of pensionable earnings. In addition, employer 
contributions of £348 (£238 in 2014/15) 0.8 per cent of pensionable earnings 
to 30 September 2015 and 0.5 per cent of pensionable earnings from 1 
October 2015 were payable to the PCSPS to cover the cost of the future 
provision of lump-sum benefits on death in service or ill-health retirement of 
these employees.

Contributions due to the partnership pension providers at the date of the 
statement of financial position were £1,203 (£514 in 2014/15). Contributions 
prepaid at that date were £nil (£nil in 2014/15).

Total employer’s contributions to pension scheme providers were £1,727,859. 
The charge for the year noted above differs from this due to the release of 
prior year accruals and the inclusion of current year accruals.

One individual retired early on ill-health grounds (none in 2014/15); the total 
additional accrued pension liabilities in the year amounted to £nil (£nil in 
2014/15).

Accountability report signed by:

Rebecca Hilsenrath 
Chief Executive
28 June 2016
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The certificate and report of the Comptroller and Auditor 
General to the Houses of Parliament

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Equality and 
Human Rights Commission for the year ended 31 March 2016 under the 
Equality Act 2006. The financial statements comprise: the Statements of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes 
in Taxpayers’ Equity, and the related notes. These financial statements have 
been prepared under the accounting policies set out within them. I have 
also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is 
described in those reports and disclosures as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and 
auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s 
Responsibilities, the Chief Executive as Accounting Officer is responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the 
financial statements in accordance with the Equality Act 2006. I conducted 
my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Accountability report 
– parliamentary
accountability and audit
report
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Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Equality and Human Right Commission’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Equality 
and Human Rights Commission; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition I read all the financial and non-financial information 
in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the 
implications for my certificate.

I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been 
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions 
recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern 
them. 

Opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded 
in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by 
Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements 
conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on financial statements 

In my opinion:

■ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
Equality and Human Rights Commission’s affairs as at 31 March
2016 and of the net expenditure for the year then ended, and

■ the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Equality Act 2006.



77

A
ccountability report
www.equalityhumanrights.com

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion:

■ the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with HM Treasury
directions made under the Equality Act 2006, and

■ the information given in the Performance Report and
Accountability Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements.

Matters on which I report by exception

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to 
you if, in my opinion:

■ adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns
adequate for my audit have not been received from branches not
visited by my staff, or

■ the financial statements and the parts of the Accountability Report
to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns, or

■ I have not received all of the information and explanations I
require for my audit, or

■ the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM
Treasury’s guidance.

Report 

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Sir Amyas C E Morse  
Comptroller and Auditor General

29 June 2016
National Audit Office
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road
Victoria London SW1W 9SP
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Statement of 
comprehensive net 
expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2016

Note
2015/16 2014/15

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Expenditure

Staff costs

Staff costs 3 11,942 11,499

Staff exit scheme packages 3 187 398

Total staff costs 12,129 11,897

Depreciation and amortisation 4 582 498

Other expenditure

Other expenditure 4 7,633 6,934

Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 4 - 3

Total other expenditure 7,633 6,937

Total expenditure 20,344 19,332

Income 

Income 5 (269) (239) 

Net expenditure 20,075 19,093
Interest cost on pension 
scheme liabilities 13 56 66
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Note
2015/16 2014/15

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Net expenditure after 
interest 20,131 19,159

Other comprehensive expenditure
Actuarial (gain)/loss on 
pensions provision 13 (136) 101

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment 6 - (5)

Total comprehensive 
expenditure for the year 19,995* 19,255*

The notes on pages 87 to 111 form part of these accounts.

*This is fully financed from grant-in-aid from our sponsor department.
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Statement of financial 
position as at  
31 March 2016

Note
31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 1,316 1,397

Intangible assets 7 89 117

Total non-current assets 1,405 1,514

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 9a 692 803

Cash and cash equivalents 10 229 123

Total current assets 921 926

Total assets 2,326 2,440

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11a (3,206) (4,720)

Provisions 12 (127) (122)

Total current liabilities (3,333) (4,842)
Total assets less current 
liabilities (1,007) (2,402)
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Note
31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current liabilities

Pension liabilities 13 (1,462) (1,637)

Trade and other payables 11a - (150)

Total non-current liabilities (1,462) (1,787)

Assets less liabilities (2,469) (4,189)

Taxpayers’ equity

Revaluation reserve 258 258

General reserve (2,727) (4,447)

(2,469) (4,189)

The notes on pages 87 to 111 form part of these accounts.

Rebecca Hilsenrath 
Chief Executive 
28 June 2016
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Note 2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net expenditure after interest (20,131) (19,159)

(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other 
receivables 9a 111 (312)

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other 
payables 11a (1,517) 1,293

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment 4 582 498

Loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 6+7 - 3

Movement in provisions 12 5 (256)

Difference between movement on 
pension liabilities and amounts 
recognised in Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure

13 (39) (37)

Net cash outflow from operating 
activities (20,989) (17,970)

Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended  
31 March 2016
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Note 2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment 6 (606) (246)

Purchase of intangible assets 7 (14) (101)

Net cash outflow from investing 
activities (620) (347)

Cash flows from financing activities

Grant-in-aid received from sponsor 
department 21,715 17,718

21,715 17,718

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents in the year 106 (599)  

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial year 10 123        722

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the financial year 10 229 123         

The notes on pages 87 to 111 form part of these accounts.
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2014/15 Note
Revaluation 

Reserve
£’000

General 
Reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

Balance at 31 March 2014 253  (2,905)  (2,652) 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity 2014/15

Net expenditure after interest for 
the year - (19,159) (19,159)

Net expenditure recognised directly in equity for the year:

- Remeasurements 13 - (101) (101)

- Revaluation of property, plant
and equipment 6 5 - 5

Total recognised income and 
expense for the year 5 (19,260) (19,255)

Grant-in-aid  received from 
sponsor department - 17,718 17,718

Balance at 31 March 2015 258 (4,447) (4,189)

Statement of changes in 
taxpayers’ equity for the 
year ended 31 March 2016
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2015/16 Note
Revaluation 

Reserve
£’000

General 
Reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

Balance at 31 March 2015 258 (4,447)  (4,189)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity 2015/16

Net expenditure after interest for 
the year - (20,131) (20,131)

Net expenditure recognised directly in equity for the year:

- Remeasurements 13 - 136 136

Total recognised income and 
expense for the year - (19,995) (19,995)

Grant-in-aid  received from 
sponsor department - 21,715 21,715

Balance at 31 March 2016 258 (2,727) (2,469)

The notes on pages 87 to 111 form part of these accounts.
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1. Statement of accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in a form consistent with the 
Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State in accordance with the 
Equality Act 2006. 

In addition, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the 2015/16 Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) as issued 
by HM Treasury. The accounting policies described in the FReM apply 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adapted or interpreted 
for the public sector context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the Commission for the purpose of giving a true and fair 
view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Commission 
are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with 
items that are considered material to the accounts.

Figures in the financial statements are rounded to the nearest £’000 unless 
otherwise stated.

1a. Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets.

Notes to the financial 
statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2016
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1b. Going concern

The negative balance on the general reserve is due to timing differences 
between expenditure and grant-in-aid draw down. The Commission only 
draws down grant-in-aid from the sponsor department to cover current cash 
flow requirements. The future financing of the Commission’s liabilities has 
already been included in the sponsor department’s estimates for the year, 
which have been approved by Parliament. There is no reason to believe that 
the department’s future sponsorship and future parliamentary approval will 
not be forthcoming. It has accordingly been considered appropriate to adopt a 
going-concern basis for the preparation of these accounts.

1c. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Commission’s accounting policies, management 
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies: The following are the 
critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management 
has made in the process of applying the Commission’s accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:

■ valuation of property, plant and equipment (see accounting policy
1e and note 6), and

■ recognition criteria for intangible assets (see accounting policy 1g
and note 7).
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty: The following are the key 
assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty, at the statement of financial position date:

■ useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment for
depreciation calculations (see accounting policies 1e and 1f and
note 6)

■ useful lives of intangible assets and amortisation (see accounting
policies 1g and 1h and note 7)

■ provisions (see accounting policy 1j and note 12), and

■ pension liabilities (see accounting policy 1n and note 13).

Changes in accounting estimates: The useful economic life of fit-out costs 
for premises has been revised for 2015/16; see note 1g.

1d. Grant-in-aid 

The FReM requires the Commission to account for grant-in-aid received 
for revenue purposes as financing and to credit it to taxpayers’ equity. 
The treatment arises as grant-in-aid is regarded as a contribution from a 
controlling party, which gives rise to a financial interest in the residual interest 
of the Commission. Grant-in-aid received for the purchase of non-current 
assets is also credited to taxpayers’ equity.

1e. Property, plant and equipment

Purchased and donated assets are capitalised where the expected useful 
lives of the assets exceed one year and where the acquisition exceeds 
£3,000, either individually or in related groups.

Property, plant and equipment are carried at current value in existing use; 
depreciated historic cost is used as a proxy for this. This treatment is allowed 
as the assets are of short life and low value apart from furniture where any 
revaluation would not be material.
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The asset values for fit-out costs are updated annually using producer price 
indices published by the Office for National Statistics, which the Commission 
deems to be the most appropriate valuation methodology available. Any gain 
on revaluation is credited to the revaluation reserve. Any loss is debited to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that a gain has previously been recorded, 
and otherwise to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure. 

1f. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line basis. 
Depreciation is applied over the estimated useful economic lives of the assets 
to the Commission as follows:

*In note 6, assistive equipment is included with furniture.

Non-current assets are depreciated using the straight-line basis commencing 
with the month of acquisition and ending with the month of disposal. 

Fit-out costs for premises The lower of the useful economic life of 
the fit-out costs and the life of the lease

Office furniture 15 years

ICT and telephony hardware Five – seven years

Assistive equipment* Four years
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1g. Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise acquired 
computer software licences and 
certain costs incurred in the 
development phase of internal 
computer software projects. 

Intangible assets are carried at 
current value in existing use; 
amortised historic cost is used as 
a proxy for this. This treatment is 
allowable due to the assets being of 
short life and low value.

Costs incurred in the developmental 
phase of internal software projects 
are only capitalised if they are 
directly associated with the 
production of identifiable computer 
software programs controlled by the 
Commission that would generate 
economic benefits beyond one year, 
and provided that a number of criteria 
are satisfied. These include the 
technical feasibility of completing the 
asset so that it is available for use, 
the availability of adequate resources 
to complete the development and 
use the asset, and how the asset will 
generate future economic benefit.

Where computer software 
development costs are capitalised, 
these are amortised in accordance 
with the amortisation policy. Other 
costs associated with developing 
or maintaining computer software 
programs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.

1h. Amortisation of intangible 
assets

Intangible assets are amortised 
using the straight-line basis. 
Amortisation is applied over the 
estimated useful economic lives of 
the assets to the Commission. Each 
asset is assessed on an individual 
basis and an appropriate life applied 
dependent on the characteristics of 
the asset.

Intangible assets are amortised 
using the straight-line basis 
commencing with the month of 
acquisition and ending with the 
month of disposal.

1i. Impairment of assets

International Accounting Standard 
(IAS) 36, Impairment of Assets, 
has been adapted in the FReM so 
that impairments that are due to 
a clear consumption of economic 
benefit should be recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive net 
expenditure, rather than set against 
an available revaluation reserve.

Where asset revaluations give rise 
to impairment, the Commission will 
assess whether the impairment is 
due to consumption of economic 
benefit and should therefore be 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure.
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1j. Provisions, contingent 
liabilities and contingent 
assets

The Commission recognises 
provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets in accordance with 
IAS 37. 

A provision is recognised in the 
statement of financial position when 
the Commission has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event and it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. 

If the effect is material, provisions 
are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows by the 
HM Treasury real discount rate 
for short-term provisions. The HM 
Treasury real discount rates for 
2015/16 are: short-term provisions 
minus 1.55 per cent, medium-term 
provisions minus 1.0 per cent and 
long-term provisions minus 0.8 per 
cent. The discount rates used in 
2014/15 were minus 1.5 per cent, 
minus 1.05 per cent and 2.2 per cent 
respectively. 

The Commission discloses a 
contingent liability when there is 
a possible obligation depending 
on whether some uncertain future 
event occurs or a present obligation, 
but payment is not probable or the 
amount cannot be measured reliably.

The Commission discloses a 
contingent asset when there is a 
possible asset that arises from past 
events, and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly 
within its control.

1k. Cash and cash 
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include 
cash on hand and call deposits with 
the Government Banking Service.

1l. Income recognition

Income is recognised in accordance 
with IAS 18 on an accruals basis in 
the period to which it relates.

1m. Access to Work scheme

The Commission makes use of the 
Access to Work scheme run by the 
Department for Work and Pensions, 
which considers what reasonable 
adjustments are needed to allow a 
person with a disability to perform 
their role. The equipment or service 
to make the adjustment is paid 
for by the Commission, with the 
Department for Work and Pensions 
reimbursing an agreed proportion 
of the cost up to 100 per cent. The 
reimbursement is treated as income.
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1n. Pension policy 

Past and present employees 
are covered by the provisions 
of the PCSPS and the CSOPS. 
The defined-benefit elements 
of the scheme are unfunded 
and non-contributory except in 
respect of dependants’ benefits. 
The Commission recognises the 
expected cost of these elements 
on a systematic and rational basis 
over the period during which it 
benefits from employees’ services by 
payment to the PCSPS/CSOPS of 
amounts calculated on an accruing 
basis. Liability for payment of future 
benefits is a charge on the PCSPS/
CSOPS. In respect of the defined-
contribution elements of the scheme, 
the Commission recognises the 
contributions payable for the year.

Pension benefits for former Chairs 
of the Commission and legacy 
Commissions are provided under a 
‘broadly by analogy’ scheme. The 
scheme disclosures are stated in 
accordance with IAS 19, Employee 
Benefits. The current Chair’s 
appointment is not pensionable.

This scheme is an unfunded 
defined-benefit scheme. The fund 
is managed by the Home Office 
Shared Service Centre, and any 
pensions are administered by them 
in accordance with the standard 
rules (by analogy with the PCSPS). 

Where actuarial gains and losses 
arise from changes to actuarial 
assumptions when revaluing future 
benefits, and from actual experience 
in respect of scheme liabilities and 
investment performance of scheme 
assets being different from previous 
assumptions, then the actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised directly in 
taxpayers’ equity for the year. 

Note 13 to these financial statements 
details the provision on the by-
analogy pension liability.

1o. Leases

In line with IAS 17, leases are 
identified as finance leases or 
operating leases.

Leases of equipment where the 
Commission has substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership are 
classed as finance leases. At the 
commencement of the lease term the 
equipment is capitalised at the total 
cost of payments under the lease. 
The payments under the lease are 
included in current or non-current 
liabilities.

Leases other than finance leases are 
classed as operating leases.

Operating leases are for premises and 
equipment rental and are charged to 
the statement of comprehensive net 
expenditure on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease.
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1p. VAT

Most of the activities of the Commission are outside the scope of VAT 
and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is 
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase costs of fixed assets.

1q. Segmental reporting

The 2015/16 FReM requires all reporting entities to apply IFRS 8, Operating 
Segments, in full. Since segmental information for total assets and liabilities 
is not regularly reported to the chief operating decision-maker and in 
compliance with the FReM, it has not been produced in the accounts. 

1r. Future IFRS amendments and early adoption

The Commission applies new or amended IFRSs in line with their adoption by 
the FReM.

As at 31 March 2016, there were no new standards issued for 2015/16 that 
were not applied which would materially affect the Commission’s financial 
statements. The Commission has not adopted any standards early.
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Directorate

2015/16 2014/15
Inc. Exp. Total Inc. Exp. Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Commissioners' 
Office - 147 147 (25) 184 159

Resources (172) 7,705 7,533 (89) 8,432 8,343

Legal (57) 3,978 3,921 (89) 1,997 1,908

Scotland (7) 1,036 1,029 (2) 962 960

Strategy and Policy (33) 6,741 6,708 (34) 7,053 7,019

Wales - 793 793 - 770 770

Net expenditure 
after interest (269) 20,400 20,131 (239) 19,398 19,159

2. Segmental reporting

The Commission’s primary reporting format in 2015/16 is by directorate, 
with three directorates, two national offices, and a Commissioners’ Office. 
Segmental results are shown below.

Segmental information for total assets and liabilities is not regularly reported 
to the chief operating decision-maker, and has not therefore been produced in 
the accounts (see accounting policy 1q). 

3. Staff numbers and related cost

Information about staff and Commission numbers, staff and Commission 
costs and exit packages is given in the remuneration and staff section of the 
accountability report on pages 56 to 74 above.
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4. Other expenditure

Note 2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Running costs

Staff support, recruitment and training 254 322

Staff and Commissioners' travel 
and subsistence 474 453

Rentals under operating leases 395 767

Premises costs (non-lease) 684 932

Support and office services 375 378

IT and telecommunications cost 492 454

Access to Work 99 101

Auditor's remuneration 50 50

Delivery costs

Advisory services 347 287

Legal 556 217

Grants given 772 572

Publication and information 1,277 739

Research and policy development 1,858 1,662

Total other operating expenditure 7,633 6,934

Non-cash items

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 6 540 482

Amortisation of intangible assets 7 42 16

(Profit)/loss on disposal of 
property, plant and equipment - 3

Total other expenditure 8,215 7,435



97

S
tatem

ent of accounts
Statement of accounts www.equalityhumanrights.com

In 2015/16 the Commission’s expenditure on premises costs (lease and 
other) reduced by £620,000. The primary reason for the decrease is the 
release of prior year accruals following lease negotiations around the tenancy 
of the Commission’s London office. Ongoing costs have reduced by £40,000 
following the relocation of the Commission’s Wales office to lower cost 
accommodation in the Government estate.

The Commission’s expenditure in IT costs increased due to investment in 
additional software licensing arrangements.

In 2015/16 the Commission increased the funds spent on delivery of its 
Business Plan objectives by £1,333,000. 

Spend on advisory services increased by £60,000 due to a major refresh of 
the Commission’s website and social media presence.

The increase of £339,000 on legal and mediation services was caused as the 
2014/15 figure was artificially low due to releases of provisions. Actual spend 
has varied little.

The Commission has awarded grant payments of £772,000 during 2015/16. 
The Commission worked with sports governing bodies (English Cricket Board 
and Premier Rugby League) to develop equality standards within sports 
and funded this work by grant payments. The programme commenced part 
way through 2014/15 when grants of £572,000 were awarded; the 2015/16 
expenditure is for the balance of the programme.

Total expenditure on publication and information increased by £538,000. 
The additional spend related to the Commission’s major programmes of 
work undertaken in 2015/16 – the publication of the ‘Is Britain Fairer?’ report, 
guidance to support businesses to respect human rights, and guidance for 
health care professionals on the application of human rights in their work.

Total expenditure on research and policy development increased by £196,000 
in comparison to 2014/15. Research and policy development activities are 
project-focused and vary year-on-year as they are dependent upon the nature 
of the activity.
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5. Income

6. Property, plant and equipment

Note 2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Other income 170 137

Access to Work 1m 99 102

Total 269 239

2015/16
Fixtures 
& fittings

£’000

IT & 
telecomms 
equipment

£’000

Furniture
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2015 3,398 2,225 547 6,170

Additions in year 36 414 9 459

Disposals (49) (167) (60) (276)

At 31 March 2016 3,385 2,472 496 6,353

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015 2,395 1,901 477 4,773

Depreciation for the year 410 122 8 540

Disposals (49) (167) (60) (276)

At 31 March 2016 2,756 1,856 425 5,037

Net book value

At 31 March 2016 629 616 71 1,316



99

S
tatem

ent of accounts
Statement of accounts www.equalityhumanrights.com

2014/15
Fixtures 
& fittings

£’000

IT & 
telecomms 
equipment

£’000

Furniture
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2014 3,183 2,344 597 6,124

Additions in year 199 99 3 301

Disposals - (218) (53) (271)

Revaluations 16 - - 16

At 31 March 2015 3,398 2,225 547 6,170

Depreciation

At 1 April 2014 1,964 2,062 522 4,548

Depreciation for the year 420 54 8 482

Disposals - (215) (53) (268)

Revaluations 11 - - 11

At 31 March 2015 2,395 1,901 477 4,773

Net book value

At 31 March 2015 1,003 324 70 1,397

At 31 March 2014 1,219 282 75 1,576
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7. Intangible assets

2015/16 Software £’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2015 818

Additions 14

Disposals (71)

At 31 March 2016 761

Amortisation

At 1 April 2015 701

Charged in the year 42

Disposals (71)

At 31 March 2016 672

Net book value

At 31 March 2016 89

2014/15 Software £'000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2014 716

Additions 102

At 31 March 2015 818

Amortisation

At 1 April 2014 685

Charged in the year 16

At 31 March 2015 701

Net book value

At 31 March 2015 117

At 31 March 2014 31
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8. Financial instruments

As the cash requirements of the Commission are met through grant-in-aid 
by our sponsor department, financial instruments play a more limited role in 
creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. 

IAS 39 and 32 and IFRS 7 require disclosure of the role that financial 
instruments have had during the year in creating or changing the risks an 
entity faces in undertaking its activities. The Commission holds financial 
instruments only to the extent that they are necessary to meet its normal 
operational activities. The majority of financial instruments held by the 
Commission relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with 
the Commission’s expected purchase and usage requirements, and the 
Commission is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. The 
risks and how they are managed are explained below.

Liquidity risk 

As the cash requirements of the Commission are met through grant-in-aid 
provided by the sponsor department, the Commission is not exposed to 
significant liquidity risks.

Interest rate risk

The Commission’s financial assets and liabilities are predominantly non-
interest bearing. The interest rate risk is not considered material in the context 
of the overall activity of the Commission. 

Credit risk

The Commission is exposed to credit risk to the extent of non-performance 
by its counterparties in respect of financial assets receivable. The majority of 
those financial assets that are receivable are not material. The Commission is 
not, therefore, exposed to significant credit risk.
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9a. Trade and other receivables

9b. Trade and other receivables: intra-government balances

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade receivables 1 85

Prepayments and accrued income 655 620

Other receivables:

Access to Work 20 35

Other 16 63

Total 692 803

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Balances with:

Other Central Government bodies 54 182

Local authorities 127 50

Balances with bodies external to Government 511 571

Total 692 803
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10. Cash and cash equivalents

11a.  Trade payables and other liabilities

All balances are held with the Government Banking Service.

Non-current liabilities are balances with bodies external to Government.

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

At 1 April 123 722

Net change in cash and cash equivalent 
balances 106 (599)

Balance at 31 March 229 123

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade payables 422 483

Other payables 357 330

VAT - 2

Other taxes and social security 249 230

Accruals 2,178 3,675

Total 3,206 4,720

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Premises rent-free period - 150
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11b.  Trade payables and other liabilities: intra-government 
balances

12. Provisions

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Balances with:

Other Central Government bodies 1,095 1,304

Local authorities 1 1

NHS Trusts 32 -

Balances with bodies external to Government 2,078 3,415

Total 3,206 4,720

Legal provision 2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Balance at 1 April 122 378

Provided in year  80 72

Utilised in year (25) (52)

Provisions not required/written back (50) (276)

Balance at 31 March 127 122

Disclosed within non-current liabilities - -

Disclosed within current liabilities 127 122

Total 127 122



105

S
tatem

ent of accounts
Statement of accounts www.equalityhumanrights.com

Provision has been made for £126,640 (£121,540 in 2014/15) arising from 
future liabilities associated with litigation that the Commission has ongoing at 
31 March 2016. These liabilities are of uncertain timing and amount. Provision 
is made on the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the obligation. 
Where litigation is decided in the Commission’s favour, there is potential for 
recovery of costs. 

13. Pension liabilities

The pension liabilities comprise pension benefits for the former Chair of the 
Commission and former Chairs and Deputy Chairs of legacy Commissions, 
which are provided under a scheme broadly by analogy with the PCSPS. The 
current Chair’s appointment is not pensionable.

The broadly by analogy pension scheme is unfunded, with benefits being paid 
as they fall due and guaranteed by the Commission. There is no fund and 
therefore no surplus, deficit or assets. The scheme liabilities for service have 
been calculated by the Government Actuary’s Department using the following 
financial assumptions:

Analysis of timing of discounted flows 2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Not later than one year 127 122

Later than one year and not later than five years - -

Later than five years - -

Total 127 122

31 March 
2016 %

31 March 
2015 %

31 March 
2014 %

Rate of inflation: Consumer Prices Index 2.20 2.20 2.50

Rate of increase in salaries 4.20 4.20 4.50

Rate of increase for pensions in 
payment and deferred pensions 2.20 2.20 2.50

Rate used to discount scheme liabilities 3.60 3.55 4.35
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31 
March 
2016

31 
March 
2015

31 
March 
2014

31 
March 
2013

31 
March 
2012

31 
March 
2011

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Active members                  
(past service) - - - - 354 295 

Deferred pensioners 113 114 102 89 80 154 

Current pensioners 1,349 1,523 1,471 1,353 1,036 995 

Net present value 
of scheme liabilities 1,462 1,637 1,573 1,442 1,470 1,444

The liabilities associated with ex-Chairs holding broadly by analogy pensions 
are as follows:

The movement on the provision during the year is as follows:

2015/16
£’000

2014/15
£’000

Balance at 1 April 1,637 1,573

Net interest 56 66

Remeasurements (136) 101

Less benefits paid (95) (103)

Present value of scheme liabilities 1,462 1,637
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The amounts recognised in the net expenditure account are as follows:

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

Net interest 56 66

Total 56 66

Remeasurements recognised directly in 
taxpayers’ equity (136) 101

Cumulative remeasurements recognised 
directly in taxpayers’ equity 672 808

History of 
experience losses/

(gains)

31 
March 
2016

31 
March 
2015

31 
March 
2014

31 
March 
2013

31 
March 
2012

31 
March 
2011

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Experience loss/
(gain) arising on the 
scheme liabilities

(77) 8 100 56 63 18

Percentage of 
scheme liabilities at 
the year end

-5.3 0.5 6.4 3.9 4.3 1.3

The last actuarial valuation of the scheme took place on 19 May 2016. 
Changes in the demographic and financial assumptions underlying the 
valuation of the scheme have resulted in a gain to the scheme of £59,000 
(a £93,000 loss in 2014/15) or 4.0 per cent (5.7 per cent in 2014/15) of the 
statement of financial position valuation of the scheme liabilities. Experience 
loss on the scheme that arose because actual movements in liabilities 
were not in line with previous assumptions amounted to a gain of £77,000 
(a £8,000 loss in 2014/15) or 5.3 per cent (0.5 per cent in 2014/15) of the 
statement of financial position valuation of the scheme liabilities. The total 
remeasurements were a gain of £136,000 (£101,000 loss in 2014/15) or 
nine per cent (six per cent in 2014/15) of the statement of financial position 
valuation of the scheme liabilities.
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The sensitivity analysis of the main actuarial assumptions (keeping all other 
assumptions unchanged) indicates the following (changes in liabilities are quoted 
as at 31 March 2016 and percentages are rounded to the nearest 0.5 per cent): 

■ increasing the discount rate by 0.5 per cent would result in a
corresponding decrease in liabilities of approximately 5.5 per cent
or £83,000

■ increasing the consumer price inflation assumption by 0.5 per
cent would result in a corresponding increase in liabilities of
approximately 5.5 per cent or £83,000, and

■ increasing estimated life expectancies in retirement by assuming
the longevity of individuals one year younger would result in a
corresponding increase in liabilities of around 4.0 per cent or £62,000.

The opposite changes in assumptions to those set out above would produce 
approximately equal and opposite changes in the liability. Similarly, doubling 
the changes in the assumptions will produce approximately double the 
changes in liability. The sensitivities show the changes in each assumption in 
isolation. In practice the financial assumptions rarely change in isolation and, 
given the interdependencies between them, the impacts of such changes 
may offset each other to some extent.

The longevity assumptions used in the valuation of the scheme are:

*Illustrative life expectancies for future pensioners as at 31 March 2015 and
31 March 2016 are based on members aged 40 at these dates.

It is estimated that the value of benefits falling due and guaranteed by the 
Commission in the 2016/17 reporting period will be £91,000.

Life expectancy at 
retirement

Exact 
age

31 March 2016 31 March 2015
Men 

Years
Women 
Years

Men 
Years

Women 
Years

Current pensioners 60 28.9 30.7 29.1 31.3

Current pensioners 65 23.9 25.7 24.2 26.4

Future pensioners* 60 31.1 32.8 31.4 33.6

Future pensioners* 65 26.5 28.3 26.9 29.0
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14. Capital commitments

Contracted capital commitments at 31 March 2016, not otherwise included in 
these financial statements, were as follows:

15. Commitments under leases

15a. Commitments under operating leases

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
are given for each of the following periods in the table below:

15b. Commitments under finance leases

There were no obligations under finance leases. 

16. Contingent liabilities

Legal costs relating to supported cases in progress as at 31 March 2016 are 
not treated as a contingent liability but as an ongoing expense.

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

Property, plant and equipment 105 282

Intangible assets - 1

Total 105 283

Obligations under operating leases 
comprise:

31 March 16
£’000

31 March 15
£’000

Buildings

Not later than one year 734 631

Later than one year and not later than five years 271 507

Later than five years 329 385

Total 1,334 1,523
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A contingent liability exists regarding pension provision for a Chair and 
Deputy Chairs of a legacy Commission. The Commission does not hold 
sufficient information to estimate a value. The likelihood of occurrence is 
considered possible.

17. Contingent assets

Legal & General Group plc is currently holding funds relating to the winding 
up of the Commission for Racial Equality Pension and Life Assurance 
Scheme. The trustees are in the process of winding up the scheme. On the 
closure of the scheme some funds will be remitted to the Commission. The 
amount and date of this are uncertain but could be in the around £4.5million. 

18. Related-party transactions

The Commission is a non-departmental public body under the sponsorship 
of Department for Culture, Media and Sport and then the Department for 
Education. During the year, the Commission received £21,715,000 of grant-
in-aid from the sponsor department, the Department for Education, of which 
£21,129,000 was revenue and £586,000 capital (£17,718,000 in 2014/15, of 
which £17,371,000 was revenue and £347,000 capital). No other significant 
transactions have taken place between the two bodies.

In 2015/16 the Commission had a number of transactions with Government 
departments and other central Government bodies.

The Commission maintains a register of Commissioners’ interests, which is 
available at: www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-
commission/commissioners/board-meetings/commissioners-interests

The remuneration and staff report on pages 56 to 74 contains details of 
compensation payments made to key management personnel.

A number of Commissioners and senior staff have connections with a wide 
range of outside organisations for reasons unrelated to their work for the 
Commission. In the normal course of business during the year the Commission 
may enter into business transactions with such outside organisations or related 
parties. In cases where a Commissioner or a member of senior staff has an 
outside connection with one of these related parties the Commission must 
disclose the extent of its transactions with those organisations. 

www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/about-commission/commissioners/board-meetings/commissioners-interests
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These are set out in the table below.

1) Commissioner Susan Johnson was Chief Executive of County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service until July 2015. 
The transaction related to the payment of fees to her employer.

2) Jackie Driver, Director of Externally Funded Programmes at 
the Commission, acts as Chair of Breakthrough UK Ltd. The 
transaction related to the payment of the fees for a member of the 
Disability Committee to the employer.

19. Events after the reporting period

European Union referendum

The result of the referendum held on 23 June 2016 was in favour of the 
United Kingdom leaving the European Union. This is a non-adjusting event; a 
reasonable estimate of the financial impact of this event cannot be made.

Authorised for issue

The Commission’s financial statements are laid before the Houses of 
Parliament by the Secretary of State for Education and Minister for Women 
and Equalities. IAS 10 requires the Commission to disclose the date on which 
the accounts are authorised for issue. The authorised date for issue is 29 June 
2016. 

Paid to 
related 

party during 
2015/16

£’000

Balances 
with related 
party at 31 
March 2016

£’000

County Durham and Darlington 
Fire and Rescue Service 1 6 -

Breakthrough UK Ltd 2 4 -
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This publication and related equality and human rights resources are 
available from the Commission’s website: www.equalityhumanrights.com. 

For advice, information or guidance on equality, discrimination or human 
rights issues, please contact the Equality Advisory and Support Service, a 
free and independent service.

Website   www.equalityadvisoryservice.com 

Telephone  0808 800 0082

Textphone  0808 800 0084

Hours   09:00 to 20:00 (Monday to Friday)

   10:00 to 14:00 (Saturday)

Post    FREEPOST Equality Advisory Support Service FPN4431

Questions and comments regarding this publication may be addressed to: 
correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com. The Commission welcomes 
your feedback.

Alternative formats

This guide is available as a PDF file and as a Microsoft Word file from  
www.equalityhumanrights.com. For information on accessing a 
Commission publication in an alternative format, please contact:  
correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com.

Contacts 

mailto:correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com
mailto:correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com
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